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Highlights
(financial and non-financial)

L ]
Revenue EBITDA %'
£161.7m 28%
(2018-19- £157.3m} (2018-19: 219

6%

] L]
Free Net
cashflow? Promoter Score?
£99m 39
(2018-19: £35.3m) (2018-19. 46)

'EBITDA % is defined as earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation as a percentage of revenue.

!Free cash flow and Net Promoter Score are defined within the Financial review on page 30.
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Financial summary
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Profit attributable to l 26
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Net assets
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Chair’s letter

The UK today is
unimaginably different
from the conditions which
prevailed throughout
2019 and the early part

of this year. The degree
and speed with which
normal activity can return
remains unclear.

The ‘lockdown’ introduced py the
Government In late March required us

to react quickly. Our Head Office was
effectively closed, and the vast majority
of our empioyees have been working from
home. Similarly. our field force across the
country were unahle to undertake their
normal surveying duties. Our colleagues
irIndia, who provide a vital part of our
system for updating data, have also been
waorking from home,

Despite the disruption,
the work of the
organisation has
continued effectively
and successfully. We
have also managed to
undertake an enhanced
flying programme while
the skies have been
quiet. And we have
responded to over 200
separate requests for
datasets and services
from both public and
private sector customers
who needed our help to
respond to the public
health emergency.

Fcannot stress oo strongly my appreciation
of and thanks to the management team for
the effectiveness of their pianning during
this period. Thanks are also due to all
colleagues who have adiusted to the new
ways of working and kept the business
moving forward. It remains our over-riding
priority to ensurc our peaple are kept safe
and well.

Even wilh cur-ent difficulties the year
ended March 2020 was notabty successfut
for Ordnance Survey. Al its clase, we
enterec inlo & new 10-year agreement
with the governmert, via the Geospatial
Commission, 1 provide data and services
Lo our public sector customers. This

new agreement is mouch more wide-
ranging than its predecessar, requiring

Us To caprure more data and 1o make it
easier 10 access ane share. For Ordnance
Survey, this agreement represents the
culmination of almost two years’ work
and is a resounding vate of confidence in
the capabilitics of the organisation for the
future to deliver vital geospatial data used
throughout the economy.

The agreement also paves Lhe way for the
progressive release of more data under
the Open Government Licence, starting
later this vear. My particular thanks go to
those members of the team who were
instrumental over the year in bringing this
agreerment to fruition.



In June of lastyear, we welcomed our new
Chief Executive, Steve Blair, In his first 12
months, Stove hes made several significant
changes tothe organisation to provide the
key foundations for our future success.
Considerable efforts have been made by
the Executive team and advisersto create a
new corporate strategy which identifies the
key elements of cur commercial future and
the capabilities necessary 1o deliver them,

Work has already commenced to deliver on
the strategy, inciud ng the recruitment of
new leaders into the busingss. Grdnance
Survey’s commercial future is not just o
beasupplier of sophisticated geospatial
information but also a provider of
geospatial services to individuals, business
and governments across the world. We

will do this with aur own augmented
resources and in partnership with @

range of organisations. The strength of

the Ordnance Survey brand will be a key
differentiator in our future success.

During the year, two of our Birectors, Nel,
Ackroyd and Mike Carr, left the Board. el
joined Ordnance Survey in 2001, serving
as Chief Operating Off.cer, Deputy Chiet
Lxecutive and, on two occasions. interim
Chief Executive. Neil oversaw a number of
key innovations, from the use of exter~al
suppliers for data change detection, to
impraving the currency of our data and the
creation of pur Geovation start-up hub.

He travelied extensively, developing our
relationships with governments around
the world 2nd creating the foundstions for
ourinternational aspirations. He leaves
Qrdnance Survey with our best wishes.

Mike Carrwas a Non-Executive Director of
Ordnance Survey far almost ten years. nie
brought his understanding and knowledge
of technoiogical development, naving been
chief science officer at British Telecom

and a Director of Innovate UK, to bear on
the development of Ordnance Survey’s
technological change programme. We are
grateful to him for his contribution

Finally, | would like to thank John Clarke,
one of our Non-Executive Directors, for
agreeingto step Into an Executive ro.e
during the year as Chief Operating Officer
to support the transition to Steve Blair's
arrival. He has returned %o his Non-
Executiverole.

Despiie the current difficult operational
environment, Ordnance Survey car face
the future with canfidence. Our role as
the provider of the couniry’s definitive
geospalial data framework s assured.

Over the next few years, | expect our

data to become ever more important in
underpinring the functions and operations
of many enterprises throughout the
ezonomy And we are putling the building
blacks in place to develop successful date
services which will generate revenue and
proiits for the organisation 1mto the future,
Ordnance Survey s and will remain a great
piace to work and Its success will continue
o depend on the enterprise of ali our
staff. Gn behalf of the Board, [ thank them
for their work this vear and look forward
confidently to 2020-21.

WF M

Kieran Murphy
Chair

T July 2020



Chief Executive Officer’s letter

When I joined Ordnance
Survey in 2019, | was
immediately struck by
the passion and expertise
within the organisation. By
March 2020 | saw the best
of our people, providing
support for customers
responding to coronavirus
and how we kept the
business meving forward
by adjusting to new ways
of working.

That dedication o serving customers
during the Covid-19 crisis is a great
exempie of how we are transforming
ourselves to putthe customer at the
heart of cverything we do. My eyes havc
been cpened to how significant the rale
of location is, not Justin mapping for
emergencies during the pandemic, but
across the many sectors our data and
insights bring tc customers in Britain
and globally.

0S’s role and purpose

in serving Britain is as
important as it has ever
been. The government
recognises this role which
is why it has invested in
the new Public Sector
Geospatial Agreement
(PSGA), to help it provide
vital public services and
to ensure our valuable
data unlocks new
opportunities for the
British economy.

The PSGA s our most significant
achievement of the year. Itis the foundation
on which we will become a mare
commercially aware and customer centric
organisation. The PSGA s a performance
based contract and we will be measured

on results. Successful delivery, enabiing
real ecoromic value creation for the Brifish
cconamy, will translate into Ordnance
Survey providing value for all our customers
and partners - as we invest in people. data
and technology, in line with cur public task.

The work o delivering the PSGA has
alrcady begun, to create new data that

Is easier to access, use and share.I'm
incredibly impressed by the oedication and
hard work that has gone intc the PSGA so
far. Ithas been an exciting year with several
new products, new weays to access the data
and we're pushing ahead with ergbling
location to be usced in niew innovative ways
by even more custamers.



|

The other significant activity for the yesr has
been seuing a new direction for Granance
Survey by launching the five-year strategy.
Delivering an the P3GA Is one of the five
clerrents that will drive commercial growth
The cthers are an evolution of the great
foundations whick Ordnance Survey has
taday, and include interrational gecspaal
opportunities, peospatiat services,
consumer and commercial data.

We've seen excellent progress an projects
such as roadside assets data capiure,
working alongside several technalogy
partners. We look forward to seeing how
this activity, which fs alrcady supporling
‘the utilities sector, develops inta 2 full
commercial service, I'm also delighted we're
leading the way in the develapment of the
National Undergrounc Asscts Register,

and look forward 1o working with all Lthe
partrers to develop a national mogdel from
the excelient findings of the Narth Ezast pitot.

Our leisure busingss remairs in good shape
despite the current situation anc we have
ambitions to take the flagship OS Mapsto
customers outside of the UK.

Qur strategy will adapt as we move from

the situation the world finds itself in, inta
anew warlg with new opportunities, new
threats, new and stronger compettion and
technology changing at pace, and we w ll be
ready to respond.

Finally, 'd like (o acknowledge and thank
all of our colleagues for their hard workin
keeping the business moving forward in
difficult times lts been a challenging year,
but we've made significant stens forward
with & new public lask and the launch of a
clear sirategy.

S. Blous

Steve Blair

Chief Executive Officer

T luly 2020



Strategic report

11
Vision and strategy

POSITION ORDNANCE SURVEY
COMMERCIALLY FOR THE FUTURE

Qur vision is

to be recognised

as world-leaders @'-@ c@a

N geos Patl al International GeosP atial
Services
services, creatl ng
location insight
. . Become the partner of Establish new

for POS'tlve choice for international value-added
governments seeking geospatial services

. geospatial data production

Im pact and land administration

: managed services




Our strategy

Over the next five years our strategy will focus on five elements.
These are the building blocks to deliver growth.

DELIVER COMMERCIAL GROWTH DELIVER THE FSGA

f

Consumer

Help more people
(globally), get outside,
more often

B -
3

. PSGA
Commercial
Data }
|
i
|
t
Grow the value of Deliver maximum value for
commercial data ‘ UK Government under the
with our partners Public Sector Geospatial

Agreement (PSGA)
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1.2

Business model

We're a limited company registered in England and Wales.

Our shares are 100% owned by the Secretary of State for Business,
Energy & industrial Strategy (BEIS).

The principal activity of Ordnance Survey Limited is the collection,
maintenance and distribution of up-to date geospatial information.

Our operating model is:

We collect and
curate accurate
and detailed

geospatial data.

v
=

We prov.de trustec
and authoritative
geospatial dsta
and services to
HW Government.

Business structure

Dunng the year, the divisions were restructured and renamed from 0SGB, 0% Ventures and Consumerto
Nationsl Manping Services, Geospatial Solutions, Partners and Consurner to hetter serve our customers,

QOur geospatial
solutions business
urt provides
servicesto
pavernments
internationally ana
sells data directly

to sectors including

energy and
infrastructure and
platform providers.

88

Commercial data
islicensedtoa

‘mariner’ network,

which brings
in commercial
revenue,

We provige
mapping progucts
and experiencesto
3 consumer market
to he!lp pcople

get outside.



1.3
Year in review

National Mapping
Services

STRATEGY:

National Mapping
Services (NMS)
deliversvalue to
HM Government
under the PSGA.

The PSGA enables Ordnance
Survey 1o continue providing
world-leading location data and
expertise to Ordnance Survey
Partners, developers and the
public sector across Great 8ritain,
supporting delivery of critical
infrastructure and services - from
blue lights to street lights.

The agreement creates greater
apportunities for the public
sector, developers and Ordnance
Survey Partners including:

- New, richer data

+  Newways to access our data

»  Newfreedomstoshare data

Public Sector Geospatial Agreement {(PSGA)

From 1 April 2020, Ordnance Survey will
deliver enhanced iocation information
through the Public Sector Geospatal
Agreement ‘PSGA! to benefit the public
sector, businesses, developers and

academia. The PSGA s the contract through

which OS now deliversits pablic task.

The 10-year agreement, announced by the
UK Government through the Geospatial
Commission, replaces the Public Sector
Mapping Agreement (PSMAI and the One
Scotland Mapping Agreement [OSMA}. By
providing new, richer data; new ways to
access data; and new treedoms to share

HOW CUSTOMERS
WILL BENEFIT:

The public sector

Improved public sector services by
providing easier access to new, richer
data - benefiting acuvities ranging
from emergency services to flood risk
management to road gritting. New
analys's end insight leading to better
policy making

Business

The new features of the agreement

wiil enable insights for customers anid
improve core business processes such
as risk analysis, asset management anc
enhanced route optimsation.

Developers and innovators

We're lowoerning cost and access barniers
with our new products and APls.

we're freeing up some of our licensing
conditions so third parties can make
more of their data available under open
terms for others to use in their products
and services.

5,467

PSGA membets

data. this significant investment im the
Crown's gecspeatial assets will unlock
significant sociai. emaronmental and
economic benefit fer the British economy.

The PSGA enables both government and
Ordnance Surveyto continue to enhance
the Crown geospatial data, not anly to
meet the current needs of the public and
private sector, but also to evolve to meet
and take advantage of the opportunities
offered from emerging technelogies and
markets. In doing so, twill maintain the
UK's glabal reputation and competitive
advantage in geaspatial data.

PROGRESS [N THE YEAR:

In the year, we completed delivery of the
PShA, OSMA and Open Data contracts.

Thesigning of the new replacement
agreement with the Geospatial
Commission, the PSGA, was the most
significant achievement in the year.

The work has started with big changes to
the data we collect, how customers can
access it, and how it can be shared. We're
pushing ahead with location being used in
new innovative ways by more customers.

One consistent watercourses dataset

0S MasterMap Water Network provides
data on all 364,177 miles of Britains
watercourses in one piace for the first
time. Created in conjunction with

the Environment Agency (EA} and

the Scottish Environment Protection
Agency (SEPA), the naticnally consistent,
topologically structured data identifies
how watercourses interact. Usesinclude
managing and reporting water quality,
hydrolegical modelling and flood
prediction, protection and response.



Covid-19 - Ordnance Survey supporting the nation's response

in March, as the Covid-19 pandemic became
a national health crisis, Ordnance Survey's
Mapping for Emergency service, and its
data and technical expertise supported a
wide range of public bodies, developers and
businesses in their response.

We processed over 200 separate requests
for gecspatial data and analysis to help
manage the crisis. Cur support helped
underpin decisions on getting support to the
vulnersble, find and locate key assets and
infrastructure such as hospitals, care homes
and supermarkets and allocating resources
to theright place at the right time.

Mapping high streets

To help the government identify
patterns to sustain successes and fix
issues, we're working with the Office for
National Statistics (ONS) to define and
analyse the characteristics of Britain’s
high streets. By our metnodology,
Britain had 6,969 high streets in 2019,
with the greatest number found in
London (1,2041 and the smallest
number in the North East i276). Qur
figures also show that more than half
{56%]) of high street addresses are
residential, with just under g third (319}
being used for retail. The dataset s
derived from data products ficensed
under the PSMA and OSMA. It s now
available for evaluation 1o PSGA
members by request.

Reducing bridge strikes with TfL

Transport for London (TfL} has released
afree-to-use dataset, underpinned by
height data from the 05 MasterMap
Highways Network, to help combat the
issue of oversized vehicles striking tow
bridges. We worked with TfL through
our Presumption to Publish process,
available to all our public sector
customers, to release the new dataset
on the terms of the Open Government
Licence which gives freight and fleet
operators access tc detailed height
restrictions on bridges and wnnels
across the capital

Qur Mapping for Emergencies team and
technical consuitants worked with the NHS,
Public Health England and government
agencies in Scotland and Wales as well as
focal authorities and resilience forums in
analysis including demand on healthcare
sites or understanding where critical assets
were located.

We also introduced an emergency
Covid-19 licence to improve and open
access to Ordnance Survey data free of
charge for any organisation supporting the
national response,

Data supplied -
by customer type

Other - 7%
{Dara Exploraucn
and other

‘miscellaneous’ ——
CUSLOMeErs)

Direct — 10% of which:
Premium - 4% =
Energy and Infrastructure — 3%

Commercial ~ 3%

Data supplied -
Top five products by
order volume

1.
OS5 MasterMap
Topography ~ 25%

5
1:50 000
Raster — 6%

76,659

orders fulfilled

We saw great initiatives from several
partnersincluding Esri UK and Europa under
our Mapping for Emergencies programme,
as well as innovative community apps and
services from developers.

The way Ordnance Survey supported
vital public services, shows why location
plays such a critical role in keeping Britain

moving forward.

PSMA 56%

CHMA - 5%

Partners — 22%

2.
0§ VectorMap
Local - 13%

3
AddressBase
Premium — 13%

4.
AddressBase
Plus — &%



0S OpenData

A total of

195,545

order items fulfilled —
that's around 98 cerabytes

0S Open Zoomstack

7,312

O8 Open Zoomstack datasets
(GB) fulfilled since launch —
that’s around 22 terabytes

o agahitan

(I

0S OpenData - Top five products
by order volumes {items)

1
QS VectorMap
Distrier — 33%

%

Greenspace - 10%

[

2.
O Open Map
l.ocal — 37%

OS5 Open Zoomstack
is a comprehensive
vector basemap of
Great Britain - making
it easy to go from
national to Jocal in one
scroll of the mouse or
pinch of the screen.
It’s highly customisable
and can be used in
apps, on websites and
even offline.



Open Greenspace data shows
every public recreation and
leisure greenspace In Great

Bricain - used for analysis and

23 3 means of promoting the
benefits of getting outside.

Supporting Scotland’s health strategy

0OS Open Greenspace is one of the data
laversin a Geographic Information
System {GIS) Green Health Map created
as parl of Scotland’s first health Board-
lec Green Health Strategy. The strategy.
published by NHS Lothian, Edinburgh
and Lothian’s Health Foundation and
grecnspace Scotland, aims to fully
realise the potential of the NHS cutdoor
estate ana Communiy green spaces as
a community health asset. in addition
loidentifying priority areas for green
kealth activity development, using 0%
Open Greenspace in the green health
activity mapping also highlights the
proximity of parks and [inks to other
spaces, community facilities and
residential areas.

National Underground Asset Register
We nave sLccessfuily compiered a prot
inthe Werth-East for the Gecspatiel
Commiss'on to create & vational
Underground Asset Register INUAR .
invoving the cesigr and carfiguration
of a mapping pattorm to erzble urility
asset owrers zrd operators tc secdrely
share imformaticn.

Larly trials have been very successful One

meajor ut'lity company has beer able w
identify signi‘icant efficency savings arc
health and safety terefits

Reducing traffic pollution

Tech firms developing navigaticnal apps
will have access to Crdnance Survey data
through the Department for Transport's
review of legisiatian arcund Traffic
Regulation Orders [TROs). The initative
aims to give drivers the confidence to plan
important trips without the fear of being
stuck in traffic, anc has the potenual to
recuce cangestion, delays and air pollution,

Proposals to make it easier for authoriues,
privale app developers and companies to
access data around the predicted 50,000
yearly road closures and use it to s full

Accurately mapping
underground assets
can reduce excavation
k delays, coses and
potential, contributes to Government’s injuries.
commitment Lo make travelling C'eaner and

greener, safer, easicr and more relable




£77m

raised by Geovation start-ups
since 2015

117

new start-ups to date

484

new jobs creaced

Geovation

Geovation was launched in 2010 by
Ordnance Survey to support promising
GeoTech and Proptech start-ups by offering
themn focused guidance and support, access
to quality data. and technical and financial
resources to help them develop and thrive.

Last year Geovatian celekrated five years of
its tondon-based Accelerator Programme,
runin association with HM Land Registry.

It also launched a new Edinburgh based
accelerator programme run in association
with Registers of Scotland.

The accelerator programmes are specially
designed to propel pre-seed or seed

stage start-ups to the next tevel and have
established an impressive track record of
success. To date they have heloed turn 117
start-ups into thriving businesses, which
hasled to the creation of 484 new jobs and
£77m invested into the start-ups.

Over the past 12 months Geovation has
also carried out its plan to support and
nurture more new businesses through
strategic partnerships with complimentary
innovation Hubs in Birmingham, Bristal,
Cardift and Manchester.

The latest cohort to be supported through

the London-hased acceterator programme:

«  Earthscope which finds, forecasts and
assesses witdfires by harnessing Al
satellite images and the weather

«  Hammer-Flights which provides an
adaptive flight automation platform for
drone service providers and in-house
drone programmes to collect guick and
precise data

. Atmo which provides air quality
monitoring to heavy industry to
minimise exposure to persannel.

< Veva, anew platform that reduces the
number of property non-comptletions
while simultaneously reducing the end
to end transaction times

« Crowdhauswhich is modernising the
property search market by providing
‘For Sale’ Smart Signs

« SoclAbility, a mobile app allowing
users to quickly and easily find detailed
and refiable accessibility information
for iocal social venues and shaps

- lawvueltd, a property viewing
company providing a comprehensive
seven day viewing service to ensure
property viewings do not get cancelled,
postponed or missed

The first three tech start-ups set to
benefit from Edinburgh-based Geovation
Scotland's support were:

-+ Folarity’s Forest Planner software
as a service [SAAS] platformto help
forest managers plan and monitor
their woodlands

- Walks and Waterfalls, a treasure app to
help users locate Scotland’s waterfalls,
wild swimming spots, undiscovered
walks and heritage sites

»  AboveBoard, a community-griven,
property factoring platform o equip
people iiving in residential blocks and
developments with tools to reduce
maintenance costs through optional
self-management




Ordnance Survey's
E-CAVE project is
helping to enable
an enviranmenc for
future connected
mobility solutions.

Global mapping standards for self-driving cars

Our report with Zenzic, which vras created by the UK Gavernment
and induslry to coordinate s national platform for testing and
developing connected and self-driving vehicles, lays out the
impartance of collaborative mapping 10 the develoament

of self-driving vehicles. The ‘Gendata report - analysis and
recommendatians for self-driving vehicie testing’ sets out what
the global standards should be for high-definition mapping and
also calls for the creation of common data standards to promote
collaboration and imprave canfidence in mapging cate.

Currently thereis no single source of high definition mapping data
for self-driving vehicles. We suggest 2 neutrally hosted platform
would increase the canfidence ir data from multiple sources and
help different sell-driving vehicies co-exist on the same piece of
road. For this to work, standards for data coilection and sharing will
need o be impiemented globally.




Geospatial
Solutions

STRATEGY:

We have clear
international
propositions focused
on our strengths

in geospatial

data production,
automated landscape
monitcring and land
administration.

Geospatial Solutions focuses on
future revenue opportunities with
support from a newly formed
prepositions and innovation

(P&I) unit. There will be new
propositions develaped for
roadside asset management and
trusted geospatial data platforms
These will be built on the expertise
gained in projects such roadside
asset data capture.

We will also maintain existing
energy and infrastructure and
platforms revenue and grow the
direct data channel.

PROGRESS IN THE YEAR:

The Internationa. team developed
clear proposttions focusing on winning
high priority targets and a pipeiine of
country opportunities.

Anew contract was signed with the Dubai
Government, to develop its geospatial
capahilities. The landmark deal will sec the
creation of the Geospatial Services Centre
in Dubai, enhancing remote sensing, anc
embedding a system of governance for
data management and guality assurance.

Our team meeting
customers from the Hong
Kong Land Authericy, at
Explorer House.

Also delivered in the year was the
Automated Product Creation service, which
we developed to create the Q5 VectorMap
Local praduct. It creates a consistent
nroguct, Improving the currency and guality
of national datasets, to produce the end
productin hours and days. Thisis a step-
change as typically it would take months for
manual cartographic production processes.
The process is entirely automated,
eliminating the need for manual input




A new contract
was signed wrth the
Dubaj Government,
to develop

its geospatial

capabilicies.

Geospatial innovations

Ordnance Survey moved forward
oninnovations in projects such
as the roadside asset data
capture collaboration with
technotogy partners atintel.

Propositions are being developed
to include richer and more
dynamic date, to support markets
such as asset management

and network planning. We've
identified five opportunities that
we're pursuing in this market. And
trusted geospatial data platforms
will draw upon the wark that

has gone Into projects exploring
secure and trusted data exchange
platfarms. '

Ordnance Survey
Jaunched triais to
create the first detailed
roadside infrastructure
daraset of Britain for

2 new, accurate and
customisable location

information service.



Leisure

STRATEGY:

We help more people
to get outside more
often so that they

live longer and enjoy
life more. We do this
by providing a range
of products and
services that help
make outdoor activity
enjoyable, accessible
and safe.

We will drive engagement in
outdoor aclivity to deliver
profitable commercial growth
of our leisure praduct range
across navigation, mapping,
guldes and accessories, We
intend to further improve the
customer experience to ensure
ease of purchase across all our
channels, {retail, e-commerce
and mobile application stores).
We aim to keep the Ordnance
Survey brand foundational in
any outdoor activity,

0S Maps will cxpand
internationally, building on the
success of the award-winning
0S Maps ecosystem. We will also
expand into new content (e.g.
virtual guidebooks) and gamified
outdoor experiences.

3.5 million

OS Maps users

PROGRESS IN THE YEAR:

G5 Maps

Our award-winning app grew in popularity
and depth Users created over one million
different routes in the app between Aprii
2019 and March 2020. We added 3 new layer
detalling the National Cycle Network for our
web version, in partnership with UK walking
and cycling charity Sustrans,

During the year the app wan five awards:
. BestUse of Technology in Customcer
Enpagement - 2019 Engage Awards

- Best Technotogy Tool - 2019 Direct
Commerce Awards

- App ofthe Year - 2019 The Great Outdoor
Awards

«  BestDigital Product - 2020 Cutdoor
Industry Association Awards

4pp of the Year - 2020 Trail Running

Magazine Awards

Since February, use
of the OS Maps app
has increased by
300% as che nation
went into lockdown.

GetOutside Campaign

Qur fiagship initiative to promote the
benefits af an active outdoor lifestyle across
Britain continued to see significant levels

ot erigagement and participation this year.
Aboutsixmilhon different people visited our
GCetOutside. uk website, and we partnered
with 75 different argamsations throughout
the outdoor sector.

GetOutside}

We recruited a 10G strang team of OS
GetOutside champians to belp spread the

message around the country. Thiswasin
response to 700 applications wishing to
Join the programme.

We held our second National GetQutside
Day in September 2019, an event that
reached an estimated media audience of
6.2 million people. The ariginal event, held
in 2018, wan Activation of The Year at the
ukactive Awards fin June.

The OS Maps application
is used by over 3.5m
people ta maximise

their enjoyment of the
great outdoors and is
seamlessly integrated
across mobile application
and web services.
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PUZZLE TOUR -

oF BRITAIN

Ordnance Survey Puzzle Tour of Britain

The Ordnanrce Survey Puzzle Tour of
Britain, the successor to 2018's best-seller
The Ordnance Survey Pussle Book, was-
published by Trapeze in October 2019

The foliow-up sold approximatcly 55,000
units ir the lead up 1o Chnstmas, peaking
at number four on the Non-Fiction
Papcrback best-seller list Industry deta
shows that both The Ordnance Survey
Puzzle Tour of Britain and The Ordnance
Survey Puzzle Book were the two best-
selling titles across the puzzle book
market last year.

Paper Maps {and Guides)

Inwhat has been & declining marketplace
for travel guides and maps, sales

ot Qrdnance Survey walking maps
outperformed much of the consumer
market it this categary

Nielsen BookScan shows that overall value

salesfor travel guides and maps fell by
3.6% sector wide in 2019 compared to the
previous year.

By cantrast, sales of Crcnance Survey
walking maps in 2019 matched those
of 2018.

Qur best-selling paper map remains OL1f
Snowdon in the OS Explorer series. We
released 2 new cdition of this mapin
February 2019.

Our Pathfinder Walking Guide serics saw a
year-on-year sales increase of 27%in 2019.

N A N

The moon map was endorsed by
Buzz Aldrin, who shared an image
of himself scudying it on Twitter,

Mcon Map

To commemgrate the 50th anniversary of
the historic 1969 Apollo 11 moon landing,
we designed and published an Ordnance
Survey map of the moon.

The map covers an 840 mile by 620 mile
area of the lunar surface to ascale of oneto
1.470,000.

The product, which came in either the
tradional folded map style or a flat poster
format, was a greal success.



Commercial data

STRATEGY:

We will deliver growth
through pricing,
licensing and feature
offers tailored to
target specific

user groups.

We plan to develop a
systematic approach
to growing partner
revenue, with an initial
goal to roll itout to
ane target sector.

Partner channel - partners by sector

General commereial — 39%

Platform providers — 3%

“‘:"%

Energy and infrastructure — 3%

Financral services — 4%¢

Public sector - 5%

Consumer - 14% S

Ordnance Survey
data is trusted for its
arcuracy and dertail.

PROGRESS IN THE YEAR:

Partner channel
Qur partnership network

Collsboration 1s key to maximising the
value of our location data, delivering
innavation and developing the next
generation of products and services.

Qur partnership channel agam grew in
2019-20 and there are now more than 400
organisations licensed to use, enhance
and distribute Ordnance Survey data. The
netwaork continuea to benefit rmillions of
customers by providing sowtions across
all sectors, including land and property,
financc and insurance; energy anc
infrasiruciure; transport and logistics;

consumer; and governmaent.

434

Ordnance Survey
partners
, .

Partner engagement

Ourwebinar series provided an apportunity
forus to update partners on our activities
but also to hear their feedback an our plans.
From web developers want'ng to learn
more abour APis and their applications

to updates on our agenda, Lhe 2019-20
programme covered 2 wide range of

1ssues. This year we also provided in-depth
online briefings on specific developments,
including the new PSGA and the Open

QS MasterMap Programme together with
assoclated changes to pricing and licensing.
Tobuild on this success, further webinars
are planned for 2020-21.

Partner conference

Existing and potential new partners

joined us tc discuss transferming the
geospatial lendscape at our November
2019 conference. Feedback from the 135
delegates was positive, with a particular
emphasis on the networking opportunities
and break-put sesstons.

L Land and property — 32%



QOur partner charnel
grew in 2019-20 and
there are now 434 bt o
organisations jicensed
to use, enhance and
distribute Qrdnance
Survey darta.

GB direct

Overview

Curdirect sales channelis part of our
Geospatial Solutions business unit. it
provides a significant revenue strezm by
selling OS cata directly to customers

Customer example

Lastyear one of Lthese customers,
Northern Gas Networks {NGN:, which
supplies 2.7 million homes in the Nortn
oi England, used OS data to creste an
auvtomated traffic management plan for
streelworks,

NGN worked with the Erergy Innovation
Centre and 1Spatial to build a prototype
systerqusing 05 data which could
automare the creation of traffic
management plans for street works.
Thisincluded automatically including
industry regulations. It alsodentifies
address affectec by streel works, to
create impact zone notification fetters,
and shares plans with key stakeholders
such as local authorities,
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Financial review

Financial summary

Revenue
Cost of sales

Operating costs (excluding depreciation,
amortisation & impairment;

EBITDA

EBITDA %

Depreciation & amortisation
PBIT

PBIT %

Corporation tax

Profit attributable to owners of the Company

Dividend

Net assets

Revenue

Total revenue comprises both trading
revenue and other operating acuvites.
The trading growth 1n 2019-20 was due
o growth through our Licensed Partriers,
continued provision of our services to
Governmenrt and ongoing sales growth of
digital producls te consumers.

Earnings Before Interest, Tax,
Depreciation and Amaortisation (EBITDA)

The EBITDAreduction has been
predominantly driven by the following
increases in expenditure; employee costs
and professional fees, as we continue

to invest in new talent and our strategic
direction in preparation for future grow:h. In
addition, we have increased our impairment
of receivables reflecting the financial
uncertainty as the COVID-19 pandemic
affects our customer base.

2019-20 2018-19
£m 7 £
1617 157.4
25.6 245
98.5 803
44.7 493
28% 31%
44.3 23.0
0.4 26.3
0% 17%
(0.9) 4.9
26 227
277 454
152.7 178.0

Profit Before Interest and Tax (PBIT)

The PRIT outturn of £0.4m (2018-1%:
£26.3}was driven by increased
amortisation {ollowing the update to the
usefui economic life of the Geospatia
Contentimprovement Programme
{GCIP) reducing the useful ecoromic
ifefrom 7.5 years to three years to
match the revised formal operational
reguirement of the data.

Dividends

In March 2020, we declared a final dividend
to our shareholder, the Secretary of

State for Business, Energy and Industrial
Strategy, of £27.7m. The 2018-18 reported
dividend of £45.4m is made up of the
March 2019 declared dividend of £27.4m
for 2018-19 and the June 2018 declared
dividend of £18.0m for 2017-18.

Statement of financial position
Cash

We generated g net casninflow o

£25.4m (2018-19 EL3.6m ] fram operating
actrates dur ng theyear and a furtner

£5 3m 12018-18, F6.5m! recerec from
Joint ventures Qur capitai expendirure
programme of £26.1m (2018-18.£15.0m
ircluded the imvestment ininlrastruciure
sySTEms as we continually Investin wavs o
Best s0rve U CUSLOMETS.

Non-current assets

Our ran-current assels are principsly.

Evpiorr —ouwse. Qur Heac Offica in
Sourhampton
Geospatiat Cortertimuarove er t

I'rogra nme The programme for the
improvement of urban content nas
concluded after five years. Increasing
demand for more features and greater
urt:an detail had made this programme
a3 necess ty [0 maintain 05 MasterMap's
world-ieading, bestin class status

Gecsnmiat Detaoese Managemer i Sysienr

This 1s the repository tor all date content

from which all products are derved




Other entities

Insupoartof Ordrance Survey's strategic
goals, Odrarce Survey cperates ard ho ds
investments ‘n the following subsiciaries
and shared ownership entities.

100% subsidiaries

Ordnance Survey Leisure Limited (OSL)

GSL pravides a d'rect retail ofer o
consumers wno preferto purcnase
Ordnance Survey procucts ard services
oniing, The business is inclucded within
Leisure anc ar averview :s nrovided on
page 26 CSL contnues to grow significantly
year an year, particularly OS5 Maps
subscriptions, where several 'nnovative
oroduct cevelopments have ted tc our
subscriber database growing by 24% from
21 March 2019, Digtal products are the

key growth ares of the business and the
businessis expected o continue Lo grow

as our tradihional customers and new users
adoptths d'gital technology. Totai revenue
of £5.87 (2018-19: £4.9m} and PRIT ot £1.8m
{2018-1%:£1.3m).

Ordnance Survey International Services
Limited (OSI)

QStis our International husiness. which
aims toleverage our world leading
reputation in the geospatial indusiry and
seil our experuse to government agencies
inother countries with 2 primary focus

ir Middle East and North Africa IMENA]
and Asiz Pacific (APAC. The business
isincluded within Geospatial Solutions

as outlined on page 24. 05| generated
revenue of £0.5m (2018-19 £:1.0m: and a
lossof £1.0m (2018-19: £2.4m).

Shared ownership entities

GeoPlace LLP (GeoPlace)

GeoPlaceisa 5750 o' ntverture with the
—oca Goverrment Associat.on, which has
developed an addressing producticensec

prof tsmare return of £6.3r 12018-18. £5.6m),
and £5 3man cash vaas returned te1ne

Company du-ngthe year [2018-19 £6.4m".

Astigan Limited (Astigan)

Ast:gan is 3 b1% owred subsidiary which
isconsolidzated into the Group accodnts as
Ordnance Survey has control of the Board.
During the vear, the Company continued 10
research new weys of rerrote data collection.
Lstigan made a loss of £2 7m (2018-19 loss
of £2.67). At the year end, the Group decided
10 wind down the project 2s the Board ne
longer believes itis likely to generate @
positive return on investment relative to the
riskirvolvec in the ahsence of boing abie o
secure & strategic partner. The investment is
fully impaired in the Company accounts.

PointX Limited {PointX)

PointX® is a 50% joint venturc with Landmark
Information Group®. PointX provides
national location informatian for UK
businesses, government, tocal authorities,
emergency services and the commercial
scctor. During the year PointX generated 2
profit share of £0.1m (2018-19: loss £0.1m;
and nil in cash was returned to the Companry
during the year {2018-19. £0.1mj.

Dennis Maps Limited

The Compary took a 259 skare of Dennis
Maps Limited in Decemper 2016, The Group
share of profit generatec in year is nil
{2018-1% nil).

T2 main ogjective of the irvestment 's for
the Group to sccure the supply of OS paper
maps. in adoition, we will develop new
strategies and explore futu-e innovations
ard technological advances within the
printing and mapping industry.

Key performance indicators

The Group key performance indicators

are the primary measures the Board use

to monitor the Group’s perfarmance.

These KPls are key to assessing the current
pe-formance of the business as well as being
a lead indicator on future performance.

2019-20 2018-19
Revenuse £161.7m £157.4m
PBIT £0.4m £26.3m
Free cash flow £9.9m £35.2m
Net Promoter 19 46

Score

B T AT SLICE L TR

Revenue - is the total corsolidated
Group revenue recognised on the
stetement of profit or foss

PBIT - defined as profit before interest
and tax.

Free cash flow - defined as tota. net
cash flow with dividenc added back.

Net Promoter Score - is an indaox ranging
from -100 to 100 that measures the
willirgness of customers to recommend

2 company's products ar services to
others. s used as a proxy for gauging
the customer’s overail satisfaction with

a company’s product or service and the
custamer’s loyalty to the brand.



Between April 2018 and
March 2020, we raised

more than £246,000 for

our corparate charity
partner, Southampton
Children’s Hospital Charity -
Emergency and Trauma Unre.
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Corporate and

social responsibility

Ordnance Survey is committed to using its expertise and
resources not only to deliver its business objectives but
also to realise wider social, environmental and economic
benefits. Together with our staff, we embrace and
support an ethos of ‘giving back’ by supporting our local
community, charities and education.

Corporate charity

Between Aprit 2018 and March 2320, we
raised more than £26,000 for our corporate
chariy partner, Scuthampton Children’s
Hosmital Charity - Emergency and Traume
Unit. Chosen by our employees every twoe
years, the corporate charity is supported by
arange of fundraising events sucn as gaia
concerts by our workplace choir, Qff the
Scale and interdepartmental competitions

Employee match funding
Empioyees argamsing their own fundraising
actities canrequest up to £10C match
funding. This year, 18 employees
participated inthe schemeraising almost
£1,400 for local and national charities.

Volunteering

In 2019/2020, we saw a significant increase
in employees using their volunteer days with
450 people, including our Directars, giving
more than 3,330 hours to support many
different causes - from helping in local
cherities and schools to cleaning beaches,

Work experience

We have increased the work experierce
opportunities we offer ang this year
provided more than 1,000 hours of ume
1021 stdents aged from 1110 18 kach
spentup to a week in departments
such as engineering, procuresment, our
Business Centre, and consultancy and
technicat services.

Local community support

We supporl our local communitiesina
number of practical and creative ways. For
example, we have provided calering ana
use of Explorer House and our Business
Centre to Young Enterprisc and Dragons’
Den Events and printed leaflets for charity.
We have also taken 11 community bookings
for our facilities at Explorer House from
local schools, the NHS, Southampton City
Council, and Hampshire Palice.
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Sustainability

Ordnance Survey has a role in helping the UK
government and industry to achieve clean growth
and protect the natural environment by supplying
high quality geospatial data. Internationally,
Ordnance Survey can demonstrate best practice
in environmental management by reducing our
own environmental and social impact through
our operations and supply chain.

Ongoing pressure to act on climate change and pollution means stakeholders
look te Ordrance Survey, as Great Britain's National Mapping Service provider,
to demenstrate best praclice in emvrgnmental management,

We reduce emussions througn a process of review and centinuous
impravement. Following an energy and efficiency review of our Head Office,
Explercr House carried gut in partnership with our facilities provider CBRE,
we have set KPIs and promaote how the business as a whaole can detiver
environmental efficiencies.

By ach-eving our strategic aim to be recognised as a geospatiai global leader,
we expect our office based ermissions to fall. Travel related emissions feil in the
last quarter necause of travel restrictions related to the Covic-19 pandemic.

Greenhouse gas emissions
Improved metering and maniagerent

of systems and in-house reporting led

w & furtrer tali in Heed Gifice electricity
consumpt-on (600,000kWH reduction
against 2018-1% . Gas consumpton went up
slight’y because the Head Office employee
head countincrezsed anc put adoitional
demand on the kot water system.

Aswith previgus vears, there was zn
ongoing “allin emission factors reflecting
the continuing decarbonisation of
electricity generation. Combined with the
lower electncity consumption figures, this
has resulted in an emission reduction of
275 41C0Oe from :,530.51C0. 20 2018-191¢
1.25511C0:e in 201920,




Greenhouse gas emissions

Absolute metrics

Non-financial
indicators {tCC2e)

Self generated energy
consumption (kWhth)

Related
purchased
energy consumption (kWh)

Financial
Indicators

(£)

Nermalised metrics

kwhjm

tCO2e/FTE

kWh/m?

g COze/km travelled

g CO:e/km travelled
Number of instances

kg CO:e/passenger-flight
kg CO-e/passenger-flight
kg CO:ze/passenger-flight

kg CO:e per journey

I

Scope/emission/energy use

To:éi Scopé one-e-miss{ons {gas, fuel for fleet
cars and fugitive emissions from air ¢hillers
Total Scope two emissions (off site electricity
generation!

Total Scope three emissions {transrmission loss
of electricity.

Total emissions attributed to electricity
consumption (Scope two and three;
Emissions attributable to Scope three officiat
business travel (rail, taxi. air, underground,

Emissions attributable to Scope three Managed
Assets {Gloucester Data Centre, inc. fugitive
emissions and electricity consumption)

Emissions attributable to Scope three
Managed Assets {Cessna surveying aircraft)

Total emissions (all scopes)

Heat from renewable sources
{Ground source heat pump) - Scope one

Electricity
{Mains 'Green' Tariff))

Gas
Total kWh consumption
Expenditure on energy {gas, electricity, BUS

fuel, GDC electricity, Cessna fuel)

Expenditure on CRC {including fees and
allowance)

Expenditure on official business travel {rail,
hire cars, taxis, air, BUS leasing)

Total expenditl..ue- on energy, CRC and éff;icial
business travet

Asset

Explorer House

Explorer House

Gloucester Data Centre

Company vehicle mileage (kilometres)
Hire vehicles mileage (kilometres)
Domestic flights {No.)

Domestic flights

Shaort-haui flights

Long-haul flights

Domestic rail travel

O TR U NN

2019-20

6584.1

1156.9

12551

802.7
152.0

3049

3198.7

1,084,100

5,074,209

379,039

5,453,248

£975,238.16

£28,664.80

£2,183,198.49

£3,187,101.45

2019-20

3121

1.29
2,502
155.3
161.8

281
198.8
2817

1864.3

9.6

2018-19

©5E.6
14:0.3
1202
1530.5

12285
2141

190.1

3819.8

1,166,383

5,679,098

361,073

6,040,171

£397,394.41

£30435.14

£2,276,153.35

£3,303,982.90

2018-19

34l1.-6

1.83
3,182
157.8
1604

327
2447
373.4

25272

10,6

2017-18

6677

273.1

188.1

4120.3

1,501,800

6,156,855

507,182
6,664,037
£956,807.44
£39,720.37

£2,285,672.82

£3,292,200.63

2017-18
3324
2.14
3,228
157.5
157.3
290
231.8
318.7

2479.0



The Ordnance Survey fieet

Mileage has remained constant over the
lestthree years In 2019-20 however, the use
and cost of hire cars hasrisen due to the
growth in surveying activity, in particular
new sJrveyors awalting their business fleet
vehicles. Whilst car trave! decreased inthe
lzst quarter que to the Covid-19 virus halting
onthe ground surveying, we expect this
trend to continue mto 2020-21.

The amount of aerial surveying remained
consistent between this and the fast
firancial year

Financial breakdown of business travel (£)
Asset

Company flect lease

Company fleet fuel costs

Hire car costs

Domestic rail travel {including undergraund)
Domestic flights
Short-haul flights
Long-haul flights
Domestic taxis

Total

Air and rail travel

Air and raif travel has decreascd shghtly.
Long-haul air travei in particular has
decreased by 662.9 kg COxe / passenger
flight from 2.527.2 kg COze / passenger
flight in the previous year. This car be
altributed o the cancellation of Lravel 1
the last guarter and increased use of virtual
technology for domestic and international
meetings. We recognise that our business
strategy impacts both domestic and
international travel, and that our travel
nolicies must be continually developed and
reviewed to address any conflict between
plannea busness growth and trave!-
reduction Largets,

2019-20
£1164,560.36
£239,231.47
£103,543.09
£257,739.27
£49,374.57

£44,680.63

£297.411.65.

£26,657.05

£2,183,198.49

* it PR 8 A R LR 0 0 % i AT Ca e cm tan A

2018-19
£1216,250.00
£233,004.47
£25,330.07
£248,446.45
£57,964.37
£56,404.53
£406,245 .84
£43,799 .46

£2,287,545.19

2017-18

£1,359,436.48

£205,684.70
£17,300.86
£237.054.61
£51,077.89
£51,446.49
£328,100.67

£35571.12

£2,285,672.82
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Water and paper

Total water corsumpt 01 rose by 5/6m°

from 5 453m° 0 the previous vear o

6,029m- Tnis s pa-tly due ¢ the increased
number of staf frecuent'ng the reac Office
anc warmer sunmer period which hes

increesed water usage. WWe are currently

averaging above 6m  per FTE,

Paporusc nas cecreased slightly compared

with last year. This may be que tc a wider
range o° copying services being offered to
the business by our Bigital Print Services
and less personal onnung using the
multi-function devices

There has been a sightincreasc of
2.3Z tonnes of totel waste comgared
witn last year

Finite resources consumption - water and paper procured

Absolute metrics

Non -financial
indicators {m*)

Normalised

metrics

Absolute
metrics

Financial
indicators (£}

Water
consumed {m?)

Water
consumed (m?}

Paper procured
(tonnes)

Water
consumed (£}

Mains wate‘r lepbly [.Scc;ce 2;
Harvested rainwater used (Scope 1}
Mains watertCO;e

Waste water tCQ.e

TotaltCOe

i’étai ﬁélﬁs.timbti;)n irn m?

Mains water supply per FTE

Harvested rainwater used per FTE

Total consumption per FTE

Procurement {through Banner GGC}

Procurement through FM contractor

Total paper procured

Mains water supply & treatment

Used harvested rainwater treatment

Total water supply and treatment

2019-20

4,573
1,456
1.6

4.3

£18,026.34

£3,559.75

£21,586.09

2018-19
. 7:1,6‘071
852

1.6

3.9

5.4

5,453

5.43
1.01

6.44

1.46

3.64

5.10

£17,669.34
£2,074.07

£19,743.41

2017-18
4300
1,564

15

42

5.6
5873
4.32

1.57

5.89

3.28
4.43
£17,604.26
£3,604.00

£21,208.28



Woaste

Absolute metrics

Nan-
hazardous
waste

Non-financial

indicators

{tonnes)
Hazardous
waste
Non-
hazardous
waste

" Financial

indicators (£)
Hazardous
waste

Total waste arisings {tonnes)

Waste re(ycled,fre-u-sed :’-EXCH’J d'es ICT)

ICT equipment reusedrecycled externally
Waste composted

Toner cartridges [recycled)

Waste sent to incinerator (energy recovery;
Residual waste sent to landfill
VBa'V(teﬁes(.recydedj -

HCFC equipment {fridges etc.)

Fluorescent lamps {recycled;

Sanitary waste [not recycled)

WEEE

Engine oil

Total disposal costs (£)

Total non-hazardous v;asie césts .
Wast-erw_;c-)\/gtéd,frleuéed S
ICT equipment reused/recycted externally
Toner cartridges {recycled}
Waste composted/anacrobic digestion
General waste skips
Waste sent to incinerator (energy recovery,;
Residual waste sent to landfill
Metal waste
Total hazardous waste costs
Batteries (recycled)
HCFC equipment (fridges etc.)
Fluorescent lamps {recycled)
Sanitary waste (not recycled)

WEEE

Engine oil

*Included in total waste eost

2019-20

| 69.20
25.61
2.95
717
0.26

28.58

0.00
0.38
G.00
0.06

0.04

£25,368
£20,549

£15,509

£2,113
£114
£1,057

£1,616

£4,819

2018-19

66.89

2545

0.38
0.18
G.06

2.98

£19,450

£16,‘248
£3,251
£114
£428

£805

+

£281
26,618
£395
£389
£421
£4.257

£1,156

£26,078

£15,454

2017-18

78.08

748
4.41

4.02

37.1¢

5.07

0.38
0.00
0.06

0.38

£19,453
£15.084
£4,520
£455
£78

£1,139

&

£3,999

£604

£3,230

£165



Sustainable procurement

Carbon footprint, energy reduction,
staff travel and recycling targets are
incluced in our standard tendering
docurnentation. Wherever possible,
we use Government Framework
coniracts where Greening Government
Commitments are in place. Qur current
map prntsuppier s reaguired Lo use
paper that is either approved by the
Forest Stewardship Council or Pan
European Forest Council. To support
OS's Fnvironmental Management
System {EMS;, an updated sustainable
procurement policy s being developed

Anti Slavery Policy

Our Anti-Stavery Policy Statement,
available on our website, sets gut how
we ensure that modern siavery or
human trafficking is nottaking place
within our bysiness or supply chain.
Thisincludes supplier and supply chain
reviews specifically centred on the
Madern Slavery Actl by our Procurement
Category Management teams.

Future improvements in sustainability

Over the last 12 months Ordnance Survey has continued Lo work towards impraving its
commitment 10 sustainability. There have been three key areas of activity:

ISO standards

Following a gap analysis against the 14001
Standard by Capita, we expected to start
aligning processes to 150 4500] stanaards
later in 2020. Duc to the Covid-19 virus, we
now aim to begin this work in Summer 2620,

Energy and Efficiency Review
of Explorer House

Ordnance Survey has worked in partnership
with CBRE to carry out a full energy and
efficiency review of our bead Office. The
review was undertaken in January 2020 and
s findings which have been benchmarked
against other similar organisations, will be
used to denive irternal KPIs for reductions in
energy and opportunities for efficiencics.

Sustainable business

Crdnance Survey continues to monitor,
review and work with third parties to
achieve busincss efficiencics tbrough
incremental changes. Our graduate recruits
of 2020 arc assessing which of our activities
have a significant impact on climate
change, and will present their findings and

- recommendations 1o our Directors in 2020,



1.7

Qur culture and values

Our people are critical to our success. We are
committed to providing a positive, inclusive
working environment that meets their
expectations, encourages their aspirations and
supports their well-being. Implementing new
ways of working is endorsed by the Board to

empower employees to reach their full potential.

Engagement

We continue to regularly monitor how people

are feeling at Ordnzance Survey, and this year we
moved from & formal annual survey to a guarterly
pulse survey approach. We ask managers and
their teams to focus action on one big theme from
their results and have seen a positive increase
inour overall engagement scores. There are
improved trends around action taking, careers
and feedback; and positive responses on work life
balance, working with my manager and bringing
our authentic selt to work remain high.

To enable employees to collaborate and connect
maore cffectively, we have introduced new tools
such as SharePoint and Microsoft Teams. and we
continue to enhance development opporiunities
using learning resources such as MindTools.



Well-being

Ordmance Survey signeo tne Time 1o Change pledge in
Juiy 2019, publicly committing to reducing the stigma
surrounding mental health and introducing change/
well-being cnampions, as well as master-classes for
line managers. We continued to work closery with
Solent Mind and Mind Tools to provide access to
in-house and online learning promoting emotional
resilience, and have run workshops providing an
insight inta autism te help better undersrand our
neuro-diverse applicants and employees.

Employees can alse join 21 sparts and sociat clubs
organised by employees, all of which are eligible
to apply for sponsorship to support the purchase
of cquipment.

Health and safety

Health and safety is a regular agendaitem at both Board and Executive
level. Our proactive approach 1o near miss and nazard reporting identifies
trends and enabies us to take early action to ensure safe working
environments in Head and regianal offices. Following positive feedback
from our Spring 2018 audit, we have set targets and recommendations

for further impravement, including weekly inspections and collaboration
meelings with third-party suppliers and Trade Union representat ives.

Awareness of health and safety has increased as a result of improved
communications, which include the addition of health and safety reporting
to our business objectives. In June 2019, we introduced an on-site Capite
consultant for three days a week to provide dedicated supportto all
employees. To enable direct feedback from employees, we have also
introduced a safety champions group to act as ambassadaors within the
business and talk about 1ssues in leam meetings.



Diversity and inclusion

Cveryone 1 the busiress has g shared
responsibility 1o promaote respect for
diversity. comm tment to inc.usion and
celenration of differenice, Our culture is
based cn mutua. trust Yehave a zero
wicretice of butlving ard harassment and
previce ermpoyes support networks o
worrer's development, LGB, cisapility
awareness énd aut’sm suppor:

In 2019, our Chief Executive Officer
regffirmed the Board's commitment 1o
diversity andinclus'on by publisning
arevised Diversity ana Inclusion

Policy anc tnrough a statement on the
Ordnance Survey Careers website. Our
apprenticeships, [T trainee scheme and
Geospafia, Graduate Programme provide a
pipeline of early talent, and we will develop
these aopportunities to uncerstand how to
make therr attractive to all.

We continue to promote gender diversity

at every level. Our Women's Development
Netwark provices opportunities for
tarpeted learming coupled with colleapue
support and we are also active members of
Hants Wormen in 4T, As of 31 karch 2020, aur
combinca Beard and Executive Leadership
Team comprised nine men and filve women
Our gender pay gap for 2012 was 4.8% winch
1s significantly below the national average,
and below other similar sized organisauons
in bath the public and private sectors.

Employee benefits

Aswell as our core benefits such as flewble
working, pension, annual holiday and
parental leave, we provide a Bike-to-Work
Scheme and a range of employee discounts.
We have a 3ra party operated on-site
nursery and a range of employee discounts

Culture and values

To attract, retain and engage the best
talent, we offer employees:

« Anopporwumty to directly impact
communities and customers: What we
do matters on a natonal scale with
opporiunities to work closely with key
government departments, such as the
1100 and the Cabinet Office, as well
asinunigue crrcumstances such as
national emergenctes,

«  Acareerstructure and development
support designea to allow talented
people 1o progress

«  Apprentice, trainee, graduate and
university schermes to bring m new talent
with opportunities to make a significant
contribution to our activities.

- Work life balance, sports and social
cwbs, mentalhealth awareness
and giving something back 1o the
community, particularly through the
Ordnance Survey Get Outside Campaign
to which our people are key.

- Acommitment to protecting and
enhancing the environment, and to
being an active participantin the
transition to a low-carbon.
sustainable soclety.

<« Anactive partnership with our
Trade Unions.

With this context in mind, we apply
structured principles and process to the way

inwhich we make pay and reweard decisions.

Reward principles

We support the delivery of the Ordmance
Survey Strategy by ensuring we can
recruit, retaim and engage the night
people

We demonstrate value for the punlic
purse, ensuring we spend our resources
effectively and manage risk with
cffective controls.

We recognise thet the ability to invest in
pay Is achieved through our cormmercial
SUCCEsS.

We ensure that all pay processes and
decisions are inclusive. free from
discrinination and bias, and celiver
consistent and transparent outcomes
across cur workforce,

We embrace bestpractice asset outin
the UK Coiporate Governance Cade and
are mindful of public sector pay policy.



Our people

The teb'e below provices a breakdewn of empleyees by career level srd gender as at 31 March 2020,

31 March 2020 31 March 2019

Male Female Total Male Female Total

Career |evel V V 7 o V V V
Non Executive 4 2 [ 5 2 7
Exccutive Leadership Team 7 3 10 & 3 2}
Heads 5 3 8 2 2 4
Senior Managers 'Professionals 77 16 93 75 14 89
Other rales 662 308 970 641 289 930
Total | " S | 755 332 o 1087 729 -310 . 103;

Employee sickness absence

We monitor employee sickness absence anc return-to-work interviews are held 1o ensure appropriale support or adjustments can be
offered. We alsa reference cxternal benctimarks to uncerstand bow our levels of sickness compare within similar UK organisations.
Figures Tor 2019 show 2 level of 5 @ days for all sectors / 8.4 10 the public sector / 77 in organisations with a similar number of employees,
sOITIS good to see that we are experiencing lower levels of sickness.

Employee sickness Total days lost Average sickness
absence due to sickness days lost per

employee
2015-20 6,100 5.2

2018-19 5,685 4.4




Off-payroll engagements 1.8
We g sclose all o'f-payroll ergagements which exceed sx months and £245 per day. We Lse Lne

services of contractors prov ded oy thirc-party crganisatiors 1o cope with peaks of demerid Princi al
on resources, Off-pay-oll engagements are managed n compliance with IR35 egisiation, P

As a1 31 March 2020, off-payrol. engagemenis for more thar £245 per day and thatiast for rISkS and

mere than six morths are as fotlows: - -
uncertainties
31March2020 31 March 2019

o Deta.ls onthe Ordnance Survey
principa: risks and uncertainties and

Number of existing engagements as at date 54 23 cur approach to sk maragement are
reporied ss part of the Governarce
Number that have existed for less than one year at 47 20 siaterrent on page 46.

time of reporting

Number that have existed for between one and

<] 3
two years at time of reporting
Number that have existed for between two and N 0
three years at time of reporting
Number that have existed for three or mere years o 0

at time of reporting

31 March 2020 31 March 2018

Number assessed as relevant to {R35 0 0
Number assessed as not relevant to IR35 47 20
Number engaped directly and are on payroll 0 0

Number of engagements reassessed for a7 20
consistency‘assurance purposes during the year

31March2020 31 March 2019

Number of off-payroil engagements of Board
members and/or senior officials with significant 0 0
financial responsibility through the financial year

Number of individuals on payroll and off-payroll
that have been deemed Board members, and/
ar senior officials with sigrificant financial
responsibility”, during the financial year

19 18

RIS

The increase in oft-payroll engagements has been driven by our requirements for targeted
short-term specialist capability. These skills were not required permanently within the
business but were critical to driving PSGA preparations forimplementation; and to providing
high-demand skilis to support technical elements of the commarcial strategy.




1.9

Duty to promote the success of the company

Lndersection 172 of the Companies Act
2006, the Directors of the Company must act
‘nthe way they consicer. ir good faith, would
he mostikely 1o premote the success of the
company ‘or tne benefit of the members

as ewhele, and in doing so have regard 1o
various factors, including the following:

+ Tnelikely conseguences of any decision
inthe fong term

+ Tne.nterestsof tne company's
employees

- Theneed tofoster the company's
business relationships with suppliets,
customers and others

«  Theimpact of the company's operations
on the community and the environment

»  The desirability of the company
maintaining a reputation for high
standards of business conduct

The Strategic Report and Governance
statement explain and provide varous
examples of how the Board of Directors have
aimed to comply with this section 172 duty.
I surmimary the Directors have given regard
to the above factors via the following means

As a general practice, all Boars papers
seeking formal gecisions and all Board
agendas include specific reference tc and
consideraticn of the section 172 duty aro
the various tactars.

In terms of having regard ts the likely
consequences of any decision In the
long-term:

< The review and upaate of the Beard’s
financial delegations during 2019-20, has
provided a Board control mechanism for
any decision which could have material
long term consequences.

<« The Board nave considered the likely
consequences of any decision in the
tong termir relation to each individual
decision More generally, the group has
a five year strategy which is reviewed
and updated annually, and this inciuded
3 detailed review and refresh ol the
strategy following my joining the Board
during 2018, which is described in more
detail earfier in this Strategic Report This
also included the lang term implications
forthe success of the Company in
reiation to the new 10 year PSGA

The Board has considered the interests of
rhe workforce and otner stakeholders as
partof board discussicns and dec’s ons,
In relation 1o errpioyee ergagement, the
Board has:

« Nomineted the CFO as the Beard
cirector responsible for employee
engagement.

Recognised the chair of Rem Com as
providing the Non-executive Directer
leac role or cversight of people matters

hac regular engagement with the
Director of People ang her team in
relation to our company wide empleyee
surveys and workshops, ard atsoin
relation lo our regular and on-goirg
engagement with Prospect and PCS,
who are the recognised Trade Uniors
representing OS emplovees.

In terms of how employees are engaged
with and how their interests are considered,
this is dane throughout the cecision making
processes, as detailed above, and more
detall can be found on page 40, putin
summary our methods of engagement have
inc'uded the following'

- On-going consultation with Trade Unions
anvarious matters, butin particular in
relationto pay during 2019-20

«  Employee surveys and engagement, for
mstance vis gebigopportunity and our
quarterly surveys via Giint

+ Holemng focus groups on key topics
throughout year, including well-being
(May 2019;, employee experience (July
2019}, and supporting GetOutside and
National Fitness Day [Septemnber 2019)

«  Ourfocus on Heaith & Safety culture
throughout 2019-20

» Regularinternal engagement through
business wide briefings and cur intranet

In terms of how we have engaged with and
fostered our relationships with suppliers,
customers and others, we explair elsewhere
in this Strategic report about our various
engagement activities, which have included
the fallowing:

« Qurengagement throughout the year
with the Geospatial Commission in
relation to the PSGA, together with our
engagement activities supporting our

indivigua' public sector customers under
‘e PSMA, OSMA ‘and now PSGA:

+  Ourengagementactiviiies w itk our
L censed Pariners, incluaing our
Licensed Pariner Carference end
Licensed Pariner ~avisory Councl

«  Regularengagementwitn our partners

+  Engaging with our suppliers through our
Procurement and Contract Management
activities and processes, incuding
suppiier days and monionng via KPIs

e g cred.tor payment nays)

In terms of how we have regard to the
impact of the company's operations on the
community and the environment, more
de:ail or our CSR activities car be found on
page 32, butin summary:

«  Ordnance Surveyis an aclive parucipant
inthe community, both through
aur corporate charity and through
encouraging all staff to utilise their
volunteer days in local projects, with
engagement montored via a KPI

+ Thevarious community activities which
have used ocur Explarer House HQ

+ Qurprogress towards our Environmental
Manapement Systems and achieving
15014001 accreditation

As 1o the desirability of the company
maintaining a reputaton for high stanaards
of business conduct, the Board have
maintained z focus on this through:

- OurAnnual Assurance Statement process
{as described on page 49;

«  Review and update of our whistleblowing
procedures (as descrived on page 52

«  Thevarigusinternsl audits conducted
during 2019-20 {as described on page 53%.

The Strategic Report was approved by the

Board and signed onits behalf by:

Steve Blair

Chief Executive Officer

7 July 2020



Governance
statement

The purpase of the governance statement

The governance statement is intended to give
a clear understanding of the dynamics of the
business and its control structure. it explains
now Ordnance Survey has complied with the
principles of good governance and reviews the
effectiveness of its governance arrangements.

Scope of responsibility

As Chief Cxecutive Officer of Ordnance Survey, | fulfil the role of
Accountable Person, Together with the Ordnance Survey Board, | have
respansibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control. This
sLpparisthe achievemert of OS's policies, aims and objectves, whiie
safeguarding the public funds and departmental assets for which |

am personally responsible in accordance with the responsibilities
assigned to me as Accountabie Person under Managing Public Money,
and forwhich the Beard are responsible individually and collectively in
accordance with the Companics Act.

Shareholder framework document

The Boarc operate the Company in accordance with the Ordrance
Survey Shareholder Framework Document (SFD', which sets out the
principles underpinning the relationship betweer the Company,

BEIS as the Shareholder, and UK Governmert investments as the
Shareholder Representative. As the key governance document between
the Company, its shareholder and the Sharenclder Representative, the
SFD sets out the Company's core responsibilities te the Shareholder,
and describes the Company's overall governance and accountability
framework. The SFD also sets outhow the day to day relatonship works
in practice, ncluding setting the overall framework for governance,
financial and remuneration matters: this includes Shareholder

reserved matters, and descriptions of the ro.es of the Shareholder, the
Shareholder Representative, the Board, the CEQ as Accountable Person,
the Chair of the Board and the various committees of the Board, namely
Audit & Risk. Namination, Pension and Remuneration committiees.

UK Corporate Governance Code

Ordnance Survey Limited is a private company limited by shares and
wholly owned by the Sccretary of State for Business, Energy and Industrial
Strategy on behalf of HM Government. In addition to considering the
requirements ynder the SFD, Ordnance Survey has considered the original
2016 and updated 2018 UK Corporate Gavernance Code in designing its
BOVOIMaNce processes and arrangements o align with best practice as far
as is possible.

Relationship with
government

The Crdnance Su-vey governance
structure, current roles and high-level
responsibilities within the governance
framewaork are outlined here:

Department for
Business, Energy
& Industrial Strategy

SRS
UK Government
Investments

4. Ordnance
Q' 23X Survey

Ordnance Survey reports to the
Cepartment for Business, Energy and
Industrial Strategy (BEIS) through UK
Government investments Limited
(UKGI). UKGI advises the BEIS Secretary
of State on the management of his/her
shareholderinterestin Crdnance Survey,
and a UKGI representative sits on the
Ordnance Survey Board.



Ordnance Survey structure

)

Ordnance Survey Board:

=

Non-Executive
Chair

Director

Accountable

Person and Chief

Executive Officer: Resporsible
for dav-to-dav leadership

ana proper, effective and
efficient use of public funds
pius stewardship of Ordnance
SLTVEY resources,

Audit and Risk Committee {QSARC):
In line with the SFD, QSARC is
responsible for the independent
appraisal of the Company’s control
environment, firancial reporting,

risk management and effectiveness
of corporate governance, and for
providing advice and challenge on
risks that may adversely impact

the Company.

During 2019-20 O5ARC sponsored

the review of strategic risk reporting
using 3 risk map to help visualise each
risk profile in addition to undertaking
operstional risk oversight.

Board effectiveness

Anexternally facilitated review of the
Board was completed in 2018-19 and
considered the:

+  Adequacy of Board individuals and
supporting processes to enabie
effective oversight,

= Relationships and culture
underpinning the processes.

- Arrangements to drive accountability,
values and standards,

«  Impact and vaiuc of the Executive
team in supporting the Board

Shareholder
Non-Executive

T 22

Nen-Executive Directors
tincluding the Senior Independent
Nen-Executive Director)

The Ordnance Survey Board's
roleisto runthe Company

in accordance with the SFD,
including responsibility for
long-term strategy and vision;
monitoring external business
environment; and challenging
perfarmance {o ensure strategy
remains relevant and effective .

Remuneration Committee:

Responsible for developing the
Company’s Rermuneration Palicy in line
with the parameters set outin the SFD,
and for approving Director and designated
Senior executive remuneration in line with
the policy. See page 60.

The Executive Pay Framework agreed
alongside the SFD was superseded
by A new HM Treasury-approved pay
framework, under which OS began

to operate during 7019-20. 0S's new
Remuneration Policy articulates its
approach to remuneration within this
new framework.

The report acknowledged several Board
strengths but also offered suggestions

for the immediate and medium term io
improve Board composition, dynamics and
processes. Implementation of the action
plan has been monitared by the Board
during 20149-20.

We've conducted an internal Board
effectiveness evaluation exercise during
2018-20, following on from the 2018-19
externally facilitated review, and are
continuing to review and iImplement
actions identified

Statutery Executive
Directors

Executive Committee
[ExCom): Senior £xecurtive
forum led by Chief Executive
Officer, responsible for leading
celivery and developnicnt of
Strategic Plan and budget.
including assessing and
controlling strategic and
corporate risks.

Nomination Pension
Committee: Committee:
In.inewith Responsible
the SFD, the for monitoring
Committecis cperation of
respansible for the OS Horizon,
reviewing the 0S Group Life
structure, size Scheme, and
and composition Civil Service
of the Board, and Pension
making candidate Schemes,

recommendations
for approval o ill
Board vacancies.

The Chair of OSARC provides the Ordnance
Survey Board with an annual report on

the effectiveness of the Committee in
discharging its responsibilities.

Managing conflicts of interest

The Beard agrees and documents an
appropriste system to record and manage
actual and potential conflicts of interest.



Attendance at Board and Committee meetings in 2019/20 was as follows:

Board and Committee
Compositien and
Attendance

Total number of meetings

Kieran Murphy,
Non-Executive Chair
and Nomination
Committee Chair

Jacques Cadranel,
Non-Executive Director
and Pensions Committee
Chair and OSARC Chair
{from July 2019)

Stephen Lake,
Nan-Executive Director,
Seniorindependent
Director and OSARC Chalr
ito July 2019}

Philippa Hird,
Non-Executive Director &
Remuneration Committee
Chair

John Clarke,
Non-Executive Director”

Emily Ashwell,
Shareholder Non-
Executive Director,
UKGl representative

Mike Carr,
Non-Executive Director
ito June 2019;

Steve Blair,
Chief Executive
(from June 2019)

Neil Ackroyd,

Acting Chicf Executive

fto June 2019), Managing
Director of 05 Ventures (to
Decembyer 2019)

Paul Bragg,
Chief Financial Officer

Committee
Membership

« Nomination
» Remuneration

« OSARC

+ Pensions

+ Nomination

+ Remuneration

+ OSARC
v Nomination

« Remuneration
» Nomination

+ OSARC
+ Nomination

+ OSARC
+ Nomination
+ Remuneration

+ QSARC
= Nomination
+ Remuneration

Qrdnance
Survey
Board

13

13,12

13/13

13,13

1113

13/13

13/13

4/4

10/10

10710

12/12

OSARC

172

44

44

4’4

4/4

2/2

2/3

3/4

*John Clarke acted as Interim Chief Qperating Officer between April and December 2019

Remuneration
Committee

13

11713

7/8

13/13

13/13

5/5

6/6

11

Nemination
Committee

44

444

44

444

272

4/4

1,1

i1

Pensions
Commiittee

1/1

1/1

1/1
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Principal risks and uncertainties
The Risk and Internal Control Framework

Our system of internal control and strategy
for risk managementis designed to

achieve a cost-effective balance between
mitigation and acceptance of risk. The

risk management framework applies the
HM Treasury Orange Book principles to
ensure risks are pro-actively identitied,
assessed and managed at all levels of the
organisatian so that exposure, including
informatian risk, 1s captured, reported and
maintaincd at an acceptable level. The Chief
Financial Officer acting as Chief Risk Officer
isresponsible for monitoring risk, reporting
to OSARC and the Board on the adequacy of
the strategic risk management process. Risk
management is supported through the key
governance and decision-making groups.

ExCam recelves manthly strategic risk
updates to maintain the profile and
importance of sound risk management
across the business and ensure focus

and engagement in decision making,

The meetings chatlenge, modify and
rationalise the risks. The status of Internal
Audit recommendations and strategic and
operational risk actions form part of the
Quarterly Business Review agenda.

Senior management assurance

4spart of the year end process, the Head

of Risk and Assurance conducted a control
self-assessment and annual assurance
statement exercise ExCom members and
senior management provided me, as the
Accountable Person, with written assurance
anthereliability and effectiveress of:

- Strategic and Annual Operaung Plan and
Budget delivery

«  Performance reporting

+  Risk management

« Arrangements for conveying, updating
and living the Ordnance Survey values

+ Heaith and safety swareness, training
and reporting

+ Arrangements for reporting instances of
fraud, bribery or corruption

« Reporting non-compliance with
legislation

«  The control environment and activities
cstablished to meet business chjectives

« Information security awareness, training
and reporting



Summary risk profile

Strateg ¢ risks are ‘dent fied anc evaluated
against 3 defined set of criteria to consider
the likelihood of occurrence and potensial
imaoactonthe business, facilitated by the
risk management framewacrk.

Tke strategic risk profile changes 23

the business evolves and was regalar!y
reviewed by OSARC and the Board during
the vear. The latest review highlighted the
following strategic risks ana opportunities

o achieving the Ordnance Survey strategy.

Deliver Value for
UK Government

Deliver Commercial *

Growth

Risk

Securing and delivering a sustainable PSGA
with HM Government. Impact on forecast
revenue and investment opportunities by

inability to deliver on KPlIs and data royalty
uncertainty.

Execution and delivery of the growth strategy
is limited by our understanding of the market
impacting our ability to develop and offer

customers market leading value propositions.

Impact on sustainability of the Ordnance
Survey licensing model and asscciated
revenyes as a result of EU Directive on Open
Data and PSI requirement to make geospatial
data open and freely available for re-use.

Disruption to commercial growth and revenue
arising from inability to maximise and monetise
the Ordnance Survey Brand,

Celivery of new Technical Architecture
Roadmap vital to s¢ale business for future
growth,

Liaison across Governmentto ensure a

Mitigation

Effective cost management, close contract

management. dedicated delivery team and new
working practices, investment programmc.

Focus on countries with potential for funding,
develep in-house funding capability, devetop
country plans, customer engagement to develop
business cases, phased investment with clear go;
no go decision paints.

consistent and joined up approach and
response. Regular review by OSARC, including
Exiting the EU position and determining
catalogue of high valuc dataserts.

Brand strategy aligns Ordnance Survey Brand
with strategic vision and commercial plan.
Commercial strategy aims to modernise and
monetise brand by building reputation for new
data, capabilities and services.

Actively develop technology and design
capability and capacity with associated project
and programme governance.

Ability to grow limited by inadequate
competitive inteiligence and market insight.

Build business capability to track opportunities
and competitors. Develop play-books adopting
end-user hest practice.

Innovation is crucial to support growth strategy
and Qrdnance Survey future.

Instigated propositions and innovation function,
growing innovation capabitity, drive innovation
and propositions directly aligned to the strategy.



Business Resilience

Risk

Reputation damage. financial penalties and
loss of stakeholder cenfidence arising from
major cyber security breach resultingina

loss or compromise of sensitive information
{including personat, customer and commercial)
or wilful damage.

Significant reputation impact on Ordnance
Survey as a trusted partner in addition to
impact on strategy delivery from any breach
orissue affecting safety of people or premises
which are a key business priority .

Successful business growth and service

delivery adversely impacted by inability to
source, build and retain employee capability
and establish effective succession planning.

Dependency on third parties to partner with
and help deliver commercial growth may
increase value but also increase exposure to
security, reputation or disruption risk.

Mitigation

Cyber secunty capability, capacity and

assurance, including OSARC monitoring as
well as response systems, staff training and
awarenecss campaigns.

Appointment of Security Advisor, development

and implementation of security roadmap.

Recruitment plan enabling vacancies to be

filled quickiy, delivery of cuttural change and
leadership enablement programme. training
and development, career architecture and talent
strategy to support the commercial growth
strategy.

Understand third-party dependencies, risks and
theirimpact on delivering business priorities.
Ménagement of third-party relationships,
including on-going due diligence and

performance monitoring.

The Covid-19 pandemic was, and is, recognised as being a significant risk o the business including business continuity, strategic,
organisational delivery, people, financial, customer, and commercial risk arising from employee absence, health and wellbeing,
remate working, supply chain disruption, cyber compromise, weakened contrel environment, and world-wide recession. Turther
detail regarding the OS response can be found at page »2.



Covid-19

Sinceits emergence in Decerber 2019, Covid-19, has had immeasurable consequences on the global
economy and presented organisations with a significant challenge. Like many businesses, Ordnance Survey
evaluated the impact of Covid-19 on our operations, supply chain and employee well-being and tested our
preparedness in reat time. However, by implementing and maintaining our established business continuity
management programme we effectively sustained, as far as possible, our business-cntical functions
activities and processes while also protecting important assels: people, information. and reputation. The
mein function impacted was the temporary pause in ground surveying inlate March-Jupe 2020 for the
safety of our surveyors with it resuming in a controlled, safe and compliant manner from June.

Athorough assessment of the risks and patential impact associated with Covid-19 has been carried out and
we have simplemented tong, medium. and short-term respanses to mitigate any business disruption, These
actions and plans have been continuousty monitored and updated as the situatian develops.

People

As an organisation with signihicant
intellectual property, and working in a
constantly evolving industry, Ordnance
Survey is reliant on the skills, knowledge
and integrity of our employees. Ordnance
Survey needs 10 be able to respond quickly
to new and emerging requirements, while
maintaining the efficiency and effectiveness
of cperations,

We do this by training our employees,
providing adequate opportunities for
developmenz, career progression and
reward. These risks are addressed through
appropriate recruitment activities, talent
identification with tailored training
programmes, graduate schemes,
internships and recognition schemes,

CGrdnance Survey uses the services of
cantractors to cope with the peaks of
demand on resources and carnphes with
the recommendations outlined in the HM
Treasury Review of the tax arrangements of
public sector appoinees.

Fraud and whistleblowing

Noinstances of fraud have been reporfed
to the Head of Risk and Assurance during
the year

Qrdnance Survey has established
appropriate arrangements for raising
concerns and reporting fraud which
we cansider to be effective. These
arrangements include:

« Whistieblowing and counter-fraud policy
and pracedures

- TheHead of Risk & Assurance asa
named mdepandent person towhom to
report any Concerns

« Additional independence with the Chair
of OSARC as a named Non-Executive 1o
reportto

- The National Audit Oftice as an
alternative independent party

- Regularreminders to ensure ali staff
remain aware of the whistleblowing and
counter-fraud policies

information security

Ordnance Survey considers the
confidentiality, integrity and avalability of
its information to be of hugh tnportance.
We cantinue o invest resources, both
technical and people, to manage and
mitigate cyber risk.

Our Cyber Security leam also forms our
virtual secunty team working alongside
colleagues from technoiogy and desigh staff.

Ordnance Survey contimued 1o achieve
Cyber Essentials PLUS accreditation

which demonstrates information security
compliance to cur stzkeholders. We also
completed the annual HM Government
Security Heath Check to assess compliance
with the minimum security standards

for four technical areas including Cyber.
Thereport confirmed an improvement in
meeting the Standards but alsorecognised
further actior is required.

Protecting personal data

tnformation security risk is a key element of
our GDPR compliance arrangements.

During 2018-20, all data compromise

and data loss incidents were logged and
investigated. Oneincident, arising from

an official Grenance Survey email account
being compromised as a resutt of a phishing
attack, was considered to present potential
harm or distress ta the data subject and was
reparted to the Information Commissioner’s
Gffice (1ICO.

The Data Protection Officer, the Information
Assurance Manager and Cyber Security
team sought fo ensure Ordnance Survey
continues to understand its obligations to
comply with GDPR. The 1CQ subsequently
confirmed itwould take no further action.



Internal Audit opinion

tnternal Audit assessed the systems of
governance, risk managemenit and internal
control based on a programme of work
reviewed and agreed by OSARC. The resutts,
including assurance opinions and progress
with implementing recommendations
arising from that work, were reviewed at
each OSARC.

The Head of Risk and Assurance provided
an annual opinion that partial assurance
can be provided over the adequacy and
effectiveness of 0S's systems of governance,
nsk management and internal control.
Where weaknesses were identified,
management agreed appropriate corrective
actions and & time scale for improverment.

Internal Audit published 15 assurance
opinton-based reports (comprising two
limited, nine partial and four substantial
opinicns; and 11 advisory and suppaort
based assignments.

Internal Audit recommendations are tracked
with status information provided to me for
quarterly Director review meetings. There
were no high-priority recommendations not
receiving adequate management attention.

Looking ahead

The Board and ExCom have continued

to work an develoning plans to improve
the risk management and governance
arrangements at OS. We will continue to
review ihose strategic risks to achieving
our strategic goals at ExCom and the Board

with a view to considering the timeliness
and success of mitigating actions and
have incorporated risk reporting as a key
component of the guarterly review,

We will continue to inteprate the
strategy and business planming,
budgeting, performance management
andg risk management processes as
being fundamental to delivering the
Ordnance Survey strategy with OSARC
and Board oversight,

Review of effectiveness

As Accountable Person, { have responsibiiity
for conducting an annual review of the
effectiveness of the system of governance,
nsk management and internal controf,

This review is informed by:

«  OSARC

- The oversight and work of the Executive
Directors and senior managers

+ The annual cantrol self-assessment
process and annual letlers of assurance
received from Ordnance Survey senior
managerment and Executive Directors
confirming their responsibilities in
retation to Ordnance Survey strategy
and vatues, risk management, internat
control and security

+ Thework of the Risk & Assurance
function

< The external auditors, the National
Audit Office

Al the above have a role in ensuring the
Ordnance Survey risk management,
governance and internal control siructures
are adequately designed and operating
effectively. This Governance Statement
refiects the result of my review and | am
satisfied with the effectiveness of the
systerm of governance and the agreed
plans 10 address weaknesses and ensure
continuous improvement of the system of
risk management and internal control.

Management certification

V have considered all the evidence provided
during the preparation of this annual
Governance Statement and have concluded
that the organisation’s averall governance,
risk management and internat control
structures are effective.

s.&

Steve Blair
Chief Executive Officer

7 July 2020






Directors’
report

Company number: 09121572

The Directors present the Annual
Report and Accounts of Ordnance
Survey Limited (the Company)

and its subsidiaries (together the
Group} for the year to 31 March
2020. The company is demiciled
and incorporated in the United
Kingdom, the parent and ultimate
controlling party of the Company is
the Secretary of State for Business,
Energy and Industrial Strategy.

The principal activity of the
Company in the year to 31

March 2020 was the collection,
maintenance and distribution of up
to date geospatial information.

Adetailed financial review is included as part of the
Strategic Report on page 30.



Results and dividends

The results are set out in the statement of profit or less om page 71. Tnie Directors

ceclared a final dividerd to our sharehoider, the Secretary of State for Business,
Energy and Industrial Strategy, of £27.7m. The 2018-15 reported dividend of £45 4m
1s made up of the March 2019 deciared dividend of £27 4m for 2018-19 a2nd the June
2018 declared dividend of £18.0m for 2017-18,

Directors

The following Directors held office during the vear ended 31 March 2020

Kieran Murphy

Emily Ashwell

Jacques Cadranel

John Clarke

Philippa Hird

Stephen Lake
Mike Carr

Steve Blair

Paul Bragg

Neil Ackroyd

M e g

December 2019)

Non-Executive Chair

Shareholder Non-Executive Director (employed by UKGI)

Non-Exccutive Director

Non-Executive Director (served in an Executive Director
role as Interim Chief Operations Cfficer from Aprilto

Neon-Executive Directer

Nen-Executive Director (Senior Independent Directaor)

Nen-Executive Director (until June 2019)

Chief Executive Officer (from June 2019}

Chief Financial Officer

Acting Chief Executive Officer {until June 2019) and

Managing Director of OS Ventures (until December 2019).

et

Further information about the Directors’ interests is provided in the

Directors’ remuneration report.

Directors’ indemnities

The Company has made qualitying third-
party indemnity provisicns for the benefit
of its Directors, which were made during

Research & development,
and future developments

report on page 14.

the year and remain in force at the date of

this report.

Corporate governance

These areas are dealt with in the
governance statement on page 46.

These areas are dealt with in the strategic

Sustainability

Sustainability, including greenhouse gas
emissions, is deaitwitn in the Sustairakbility
report on page 34,

Risk profile
These areas are dealt with ir the
governance statement on page 46.

Financial risk management

The Group's activities expose ittoa number
offinancialrisks including credit risk, cash
flow risk and lguidity risk.

Credit risk

Credit risk manifests itself in the trade
receivables balance, which is spread over a
large anc diverse customer base. The Group
monitors the financial position of customers
oninitial apptication and on an ongoing
basis. Pravision is made for debtswhich are
considered doubtful. At the year end, the
Directors do not consider there to be any
material unprovided credit risk.

Cash flow risk

The Group monitors cash flow risk by
maintaining cash flow forecasts and
ensuring that adequate unutilised cash
facilities are maintained.

Supplier payments
During the year average days from invoice

date to payment date for the Company was
31.8 days 12018-19: 33.5 days).

Treasury management

Most Group business is transacted

in sterling although there are some

large comtracts transacied in USS. The
international subsidiary also receives
some payments in foreign currencies. The
Group monitors the fluctuations an foreign
currencies and will consider the use of cash
flow hedges if a material risk is identified.



Political contributions

Ng palitical donations were made in the
year by the Company or Group.

Branches outside the UK

The Group has brarches, as defined in
section 1046(3! of the Comparies Act 2006,
outside the UK as foliows:

- United Arab Friirates
+  Singapore

- Bahrain

Going concern

Lfter making enquiries, the Directors

of the Company concluded that it has
adequate resources to continue in
operational existence far the foreseeable
futurc. The Company therefare adopts
the going concern basis in prepanng its
financiai statements.

Sinceits emergence in December

2019, Covid-18, has had immeasurable
consequences on the global economy and
presented organisations wilh a sigmificant
challenge. Like mary businesses, Ordnance
Survey evaluated the impact of Covid-19 on
our operations, supply chain and employee
wiell-being and tested our preparedness
inreal ime, However, by implementing

and maintaining our established bysiness
CONUNUItY Management programme we
effectively sustained, asfar as possible our
business-critical functions, acuvities and
processes while also protecting important

asscls: people, information, and reputation,

Disabled employees

Applications for employment by disabled
pecple are always fuliy considered, bearing
in mind the skill set of the person against
the criteria of the role. In the event of
employees becoming disabled, every effart
is made tc ensure their employment with
the Group continues and that appropriate
trainingis arranged. 1tis the policy of the
Group and the Company that the training,
career development and promotion of
disabled people should, as far as possible,
beidentical to that of other employees.

Employee collaboration

Ordnance Survey has developed a broad
range of employee communications
channels and mechanisms to make sure
employees are informed, involved and
engaged on everything concerning the
current and future business Employee
engagement through communication
ranges from broadcast communications,
such as the daily updated intranet (Business
Today! and annternal sccial media channel
(Yammer at CS; through tc dialogue focused
events such as CEO briefings, quarterly
surveys and regular listening sessions.
Crdnance Survey recognises and works
alongside Prospect and PCS trade unions.
More detalls are contained within the
Strategic report.

Corporate governance

The Company's statement on corporate
governance can be found in the governance
statement of this Annual Report.

Post balance sheet events
There are no events after the end of the
reporting period requiring disclosure in ar
adjustment to the fingncial statements

Independent auditors

So far asthe Directors are aware, there

is no relevant aucit information thatis,
information needed by the Company’s
aJc’tors in connection with preparing their
report) of which the Company’s auditors
are unaware. The Directors have taken all
steps to make themselves aware of any
relevant information and tc establish that
the Company’s auditors are aware of that
informauon. Our framework docuament
requires us to invite the National Audit Office
to be the external auditor, and the National
Augit Office has indicated its willingness to
continue in office.

Authority of issue of financial
statements

The Directors gave authority for the
financial stetements to be issued on

7 July 2020. Neither the Company’s owner
nor others have the power to amend the
financial statements afterissue.

Approved by the Board and signed on its
benalf by:

S Rlous

Steve Blair

Chief Executive Officer

7 July 2020
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Statement of Director’s

responsibilities

The Directors are
responsible for preparing
the Annual Report and

the financial statements in
accordance with applicable
law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to
prepare financial statements for each
financial year. Under that law the Directars
have prepared the financial statements in
accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards {IFRSs) as adepted by
the Eurcpean Union,

Under cormpany law the Directors must
not approve the financial statements
unless they are satisfied that they give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the Company and of the profit or loss of
the Company for that period. In preparing
thesefinancial statements, the Directors
arerequired to:

«  Selectsuitable accounting policies and
then apply them consistently.

- Make judgements and accounting
estimates that are reasonable and
prudent.

« State whether applicable I[FRSs as
adopted by the European Union have
been followed, subject to any matcrial
departures disclosed and expiained in
the financial statements.

«  Prepare the financial statements on
the going concern basis unless itis
inappropriate to presurne that the
Company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping
adequate accounting records that

are sufficient to show and explain the
Cormpany’s transactions and disclose

with reascnable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the Company and

the Group and enable them to ensure

that the financial statements comply

with the Comparnies Act 2006. They are
also respaonsible for safeguarding the
assets of the Company and the Group and
hence fartaking reasonable stepsfor the
prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities. The Directors are responsible
for the maintenance and integrily of the
group’s website,

Legislation in the UK governing the
preparation and dissemination of financial
statements may differ from legislation in
other jurisdictions. Having taken advice
from the Audit Committee, the Directors
consider that the Annual Report, taken as a
whole, is fair, balanced and understandable
and provides theinformation necessary

for shareholders to assess the Company’s
performance, business model and strategy.









Director’s

remuneration

Ordnance Survey’s vision

is to be recognised as
world-leaders in gecspatial
services; creating location
insignt for positive impact.
Cver the next five years
our strategy will focus

on outcomes for our
customers and deliver
commercial growth.

Reward principles

« Wesupport the delivery of the
Ordnance Survey Strategy by ensuring
we canrecruit, retain and engage the
nght people

»  We demoenstrate velue for the public
purse, ensunrg we spend our resources
effectively and manage risk with
effective conirols

» We use all aspects of total reward and
the employee experience as part of a
rounded, competitive offer

We recegnise that the ability to
invest in pay is achieved through our
commercial success

«  We ensure that all pay processes and
decisions are inclusive, free from
discrimination and bias, and deliver
consistent and transparent outcomes
across our workforce

«  Weembrace bestpractice as set outin
the UK Corporate Governance Code and
are mingful of public sector pay policy

Decision-making processes

The Remuneration Committee RemCg)
develops the overall Remuneration

Paolicy for the Company, in line with the
remuneration parameters and criteria set
by the Shareholder Framework Document,
and the policy is subsequently approved by
the Board. The Remuneration Policy sets
out the averall principles and governance
forremuneration, and the Remuneration
Committee applies this in approving the
remuneration for Directors and designated
senior roles, as well as seeking Shareholder
and HMT approval as required.

RemCo takes Into consideration the pay
and employment conditions across the
wider workforce and the remuneration
parameters and criteria set by the
Shareholder Framework Document,

and is responsible for consider’ng and
recommending approval in relation to
the annual pay award for all employees,
which is subsequently formally approved
by the Board.

The Committee meets on a reguiar basis, as
often asis nccessary and twice per year as
a minimum, to be informed about, debate
and decide on matters such as:

«  Appropriate measures and targets for
variable pay plans at the start of the
year; and then outcomes achieved at
the end of the vear

«  Payreview budgets
+  Performance of the senior team

+ Gender Pay Gap reporting and activities

Remuneration committee

Non-Executive
Philippa Hird Director,

Committee Chair

Non-Executive

Kieran Murphy Chair

Shareholder
Emily Ashwell Non-Executive
Cirector
Non-Executive

Jacques Cadranel .
Director

Non-Executive
Directer
{to June 2019)

Mike Carr

The committee was supported by Steve
Blair ({Chief Executive Officer; and Hazel
Hendley {Directar of Pecple).

None of the above were present far
discussions orinvolved in decisions

concerning their own remuneration,




Employment agreements

Nor-Executive Directars have a threc-year fixed-term tenu-e.

Other Statutory Directors covered by tmis Annual Repart holé
appointments which are open ended until they reach retirement
age. Their notice peried is s1x months.

Steve Blair was appainted as Chief Executive Officer in June 2019

John Clarke was a Non-Executive Director from 1 - 7 April 2019 and
1.Jan - 31 March 2020. He was employed by Ordnance Survey as
interim Chief Operating Officer from & Apr - 31 Dec 2019.

Statement of Directors’ remuneration (audited)

2019-20
Value of
Employer
Salary Performance- Benefits pension
and fees related pay inkind* contributions
£7000 £000 £

Steve Blair 195 - 200 75-80 —_ 5-10

ifrem June 2019) [FYE 250 - 255)
Neil Ackroyd 130-135 - 23,700 35-40
{to Dec 2019) {FYE 170 - 175) {FYE 45 - 50)
Paut Bragg 180-185 30-35 — 15-20
John Clarke 105-110 15-20 13,300 —

{(Apr-Dec 2019) (FYE 165- 170}

*Taxable benefits are captured through P11D and PSA submission. Numbers are presented to the nearesct £100.

**This number comprises Severance payment + Pay in lieu of notice and annual leave not taken,

£°000

Value of exit
package
payments

£'600

274"

Total

£000
280-285
(FYE 335-340)

465 - 470
230-23%

135- 140
(FYE 190 - 195)

The Performance Related Pay amounts noted in the table above represent accrued potential bonus amounts. At the point of approval no
payments have been made in May 2020, having determined performance outcomes for the 2019/20 management bonus and in the ight
of COVID-19 and the need better to understand the environment, the Remuneration Committee decided to defer a decision about what
payments would be appropriate under the scheme until late July 2020 at the earliest. ‘



2018-19

Value of

Salary  Performance- Benefits pension
and fees related pay " inkind* benefits Total
£000 £000 3 £°000 £000
Niget Clifford 45 -50 110-115 2,400 — 160-165
{FYE 255 — 260) (FYE 270 - 275)
Neil Ackroyd 195-200 20-25 25,200 35-40 280-285
Paul Bragg 160 - 165 15-20 600 15-20 195 - 200

*Taxable benefits are captured chrough P11D and PSA submission. Numbers are presented to the nearesc £100.

«  Salaryandfeesinclude gross salary +  Neil Ackroyd was 2 member of the +  Neit Ackroyd received a temporary
and any other taxable allowances and Civil Service Pension Defined Benefit assignment allowance while covering the
payments 1.e. car allowance. Scherne {Classic Plus). Steve Biair Chief Executive Officer roie.

+ Totalremuneration includes and Paul Bragg ere members of the +  Apaymentof £115k was made to Nigel

Group personal pension scheme (05 Clifford who left his position as Chief
Horizon). John Clarke etected not

to Join a pension scheme during his

base salary, non-consalidated
performance-relatec pay, cash
allowancesfearnings, benefits in kind i
and the vaiue of pensicn contributions. lermporary appointment. to the three-year period ending IMay 2018,

Fxecutive Officerin May 7018 as an
incentive plan bonus payment in refation

Benefits in kind

Thisis the monetary value of benefits in kind provided by the emplioyer and treated by the HM
Revenue and Customs as a taxahle emolument.

Pension benefits

The total value of any Final Salary pension represents the real increase in pension multiplied
by 20 plus the real increase in any lump sum, less contributions made by the Director. Where
thisresults in a decrease, novalue is added.
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Performance-related pay

The Exccutive Directors Bonus scheme has
a maximum bonus opportunity of 20% of
gross annual base salary.

The Remuneraticn Committee reviewed
the terms of the scheme and agreed that
measures for 19-20 should incentiv.se:

«  Corporate performance, using rmeasures
applying for the all-empioyee Delivering
Success scheme

+  Specific personal targets

»  Strategic targets to focus on delivery of
key contracts and strategies as well as
consideration of employee engagement
and Health & Safety. The Remuneration
Committee exercises its discretion to
determine the extent to which Strategic
Measures are achieved.

The following weightings were
applied to reward pasitive behaviours
with business units being mutually
dependent on each other:

Measure Weighting
Coporate 3% o
Strategic B 35%

Personal ) 30%

4

The targets set for the Corporate measures were as per the table below:

Measure Startto Earn | On Target
Revenve  £1s68m  £160.8m
Freecash Ct2m Cog2om

L T e e e

Maximum

£168.8m

£10.6m

n‘a

NB. Performance becween the defined levels attracts a relative award between the defined award levels

The Grdnance Survey Chief Executive Officer also has a commercial bonus opportunity of
up to 30% salary to further accelerate the commercial elements of our annual and 5-year

strategic plans. This is in agdition to the Director Bonus plan. The high-level measures are
shown in the table below which are supported by detailed targets set and assessed by the

Remuneration Committee.

Measure Weighting
Delivering an updated commercial strategy 50%
50%

v T

Developing the business

o= s e A ok 2

e R
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Fair pay disclosure (audited)

Y, .33

Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the salaries of the most highiy paid Directorin
their crganisation and the median earnings of the organisation’s werkforce.

Financial Year 2019-20

+ Thesalary and taxable benefits excluding pension of the Company’s most highly paic Director en a full year
equivalent basis in the financial year 2019-20 was between £325,000 and £330,000

«  This amount represents 8.4 times the median salary and taxable benefits of the workforce, which was £39,367

Financial Year 2018-19

« Thesalary and taxable benefits excluding pension of the Company’s most highly paid Director on a fuil year
equivalent basisin the financial year 2018-19 was between £270.000 and £275.000

»  This amount represents 7.2 times the median salary and taxable benefits of the workforce, which was £37,600

On a total remuneration basis, no emplayee received remuneration in excess of the highest paic Director,

Directors’ defined benefit pensions (audited)

201%-20

Realincrease in

Total accrued

Cash Equivatent

Real increase in CETV after

|
l_/‘fl

’

pensions and pension at 60 at Transfer Value adjustment for inflation
related lump sum 31 March 2020 and (CETV) at CETVat and changes in market
at age 60 related lump sum 31 March 2020 31 March 2019 investment factors
£000 £000 £000 £'060 £000
Neit Ackroyd* 2.5-5ptusatump 45-50 plus a lump 1,001 922 36
sumof(-2.5 sum of 5-10
*No longer employed by Ordnance Survey as at 31 March 2020
2018-19
Realincrease in Total accrued Cash Equivalent Real increase in CETV after
pensions and pension at 60 at Transfer Value adjustment for inflation
related lumpsum 31 March 2012 and {CETV) at CETVat and changesin market
at age 60 related lump sum 31 March 2019 31 March 2018 investment factors
£°0c0 £°000 £000 £°000 £'000
Neil Ackroyd 2.5-5plusalump 60-65plusaiump 922 74 56

sumof0-2.5 sumof5-10




Non-Executive Directors

«  The Non-Executive Chair (Kieran Murphy and the Sharehoider Man-Executive Directar (Emily Ashwell’ are
zppoimnted directly by the Secretary of State for BEIS.

+  Theremaming Non-Executive Birectors {Jacques Cadranel, Stephen Lake, Philippa Hird and John Clarke; are
appointed by the Board of Directors ¢f Qrdnance Survey Limited, on the recommendatior of the Nomination
Committee. Thelr remuneration and terms of appointment are agreed at the time of their appeointmens, which
is normelly for three years with the optian for this to be extended for a further three years. By exception and on
completion of the three-year optional period, any further extension rs offered under mutually agreed ~erms.

Payments to Non-Executive Directors

Ordnance Survey Non-Executive Directers are not Ordnance Survey employecs and are not members of the
Principal Civil Service Pension Scheme nar the OS Group Persong! Pension Pian, Their remuneration is paid after
deduction of PAYE and NIC through the Ordnance Survey payroll. The Shareholder Director is remunerated by their
employer UKGT and is a member of the Principai Civil Service Pension scheme offered by their crployer.

Remuneration paid to Non-Executive Birectors was as follows:

2019-20 2019-20 2018-19 2018-19

Remuneration BIK BIK

£7000 £ £°000 £

Kieran Murphy 50-55 2,800 50 - 55 1,900

Jacques Cadranel 25-30 1,700 25-30 300
5-1 10-15

John Clarke . 0 700 . 500
{FYE 25 - 30) FYE 25 - 30)
20-25%

Phitippa Hird 25-13p 1,400 i 1,100
{FYE 25 - 30}

Stephen Lake 25-30 800 25-30 1,600

Mike Carr >l 1,700 25-30 2,300

{to June 2019) (FYE 25 - 30) : - ’

S AR T ARt Y SR 0L A0 A R A, 9 g AR

The inclusion of a Directors’ remuneration report containing information about the salary and benefits of the senior
managers and key decision makers at Ordnance Survey is voluntarily reported. The actual salary, performance-
related pay and benefits details of each Diractor form the sudited elements of this report, as referred to in The Audit
Opinion, which can be found in the Annual Accounts. The remaining elements are unaudited.

The Director’s remuneration report was approved
by the Board and signed on its behalf by:

s&»‘.

Steve Blair

Chief Executive Officer

7 July 2020
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Auditor’s report

Independent auditor’s report to the Shareholders of Ordnance Survey Limited

Opinion on financial statements

i have audited the financiat statements

of Ordnance Survey Limited for the year
ended 31 March 2020 which comprise

the Consolidated statement of profit and
lass and other comprehensive income,
Consolidated statement of financial
position, Company statement of financial
position, Consolidated statement of
changes In equity, Company statement

of changes in equity, Consolidated cash
flow statement, Company cash flow
statement and'the related Consolidated
notes, including the significant accounting
policies. The financizal reporting framework
that has been applied in their preparation
is applicable law and the International
Finaneial Reporting Standards as adopted
by the European Union and asregards the
parent company financial statements, as
applied in accordance with the provisions
of the Companies Act 2006. | have also
audited the information in the Directors’
Remuneration Report that is described as
having been audited.

In my opinion the financial statements;

- give atrue and fair view of the state of
the group’s and the parent company’s
affairs as at 31 March 2020 and of the
group’s profit for the year then ended,
and

-+ have been properly prepared in
accordance with nternational Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by
Furopean Union; and

+ have been prepared in accordance with
the Companies Act 2006.

Basis of opinions

| conducted my audit in accordance with
International Standards on Auditing {ISAs)
(UK). My responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the

financiai statements secticn of my report.
Those standards require me and my staff
tc comply with the Financial Reporting
Council’s Revised Ethical Standard 2016.1

amnindependent of Ordnance Survey Limited
in accordance with the ethical requirements

that are relevant to my audit and the financial
statements in the UK. My staff and i have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities

in accordance with these requirements,

| believe that the audit evidence | have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for my opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

I have nothing to report in respect of the
following matters in relation to which the
1SAs (UK) require me to report to you where:

Ordnance Survey Limited's use of the
going concern basis of accounting in the
preparation of the financial statements
is not appropriate; or

Ordnance Survey Limited have not
disclosed in the financial statements any
identified material uncertainties that may
cast significant doubt about Ordnance
Survey Limited’s ability to continue to
adopt the going concern basis.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the
financial statements

As explained more fully in the Directors’
Responsibilities Statement, the Directors
are responsible for:

.

The preparation of the financial
statements and for being satisfied that
they give a true and fair view

Such internai control as management
determines is necessaryto enable the -
preparation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error

Assessing the group’s and the parent’s
company’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, if applicable,
matters relating to going concern

and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the Directors either
intend to liquidate the group or the
parent company or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative butto
doso

Auditor’s respensibilities for the audit of
the financial statements

My responsibility is to audit and express
an opinion on the financial statements

in accordance with applicable law and
Internationat Standards on Auditing {ISAs)
{(UK).

An audit involves obtaining evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements sufficient to give reasonable
assurance that the financial statements are
free from material misstatement, whether
caused by fraud or error. Reasonable
assuranceis a high level of assurance, butis
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with 1SAs (UK) will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists,
Misstatements can arise from fraud arerror
and are considered material if, individually
orin the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic

" decisions of users taken on the basis of

these financial statements.

As part of an auditin accordance with
1SAs (UK), | exercise professional judgment
and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. | also:

- identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and
perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for my opinicn. The risk
of ngt detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentionat omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control

+ Obtain an understanding of internai
control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the
group's and Ordnance Survey Limited’s
internal control



+ Evaluate the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by
management

+ Evaluate the overall presentation,
structure and content of the financial
statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying
transactions and events fn a manner that
achieves fair presentation

-+ Obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business
activities within the Group 1o express an
opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. | am responsible for the
direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. | remain solely
responsible for my audit opinion.

»  Conclude on the appropriateness of
Ordnance Survey Limited’s use of the
going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the group’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

If t conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, | am required to draw attention

in my report to the related disclosures

in the financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to medify my
opinion. My conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date
of my report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the group to cease
to continue as a going concern.

| communicate with those charged with

governance regarding, among other matters, -

the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control
that lidentify during my audit.

Other Information

Directors are responsible for the other
information. The other information
comprises information included in the
annual report, but does notinclude

the parts of the Remuneration Report
described in that repert as having been
audited, the financial statements and my
auditor’s report thereon. My opinion on the
financial statements does not cover the
other information and I do not express any
form of assurance conciusion thereon. In’
connection with my audit of the financial
statements, my responsibility is to read
the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the financial
statements or my knowledge obtained

in the audit or otherwise appearsto be
materially misstated. If, based on the work
I have performed, | conctude that there

is a material misstatement of this other
information, | am required to report that
fact. | have nothing to reportin this regard.

QOpinion on other matters prescribed by
the Companies Act 2006

In my opinion:

» the parts of the Remuneration Report to
be audited have been properly prepared
in accordance with the Companies Act
2006;

+ inlight of the knowledge and
understanding of the group and the
company and its environment obtained
in the course of the audit, | have not
identified any material misstatements
in the Strategic Report or the Directors’
Report; and

« theinformation given in the Strategic
and Directors’ Report for the financial
year for which the financial statements
are prepared is consistent with the
financial statements and those reports
have been prepared in accordance with
applicable legal requirements.

Matters on which | report by exception

| have nothing to report in respect of the
following matters where the Companies Act
2006 requires me ta repert to you if, in my
opinion:

= adequate accounting records have not
been kept by the parent company, or
returns adequate for my audit have not
been received from branches not visited
by my staff; or

« thefinancial statements and the part of
the Directors’ remuneration report to be
audited are not in agreement with the
actounting records and returns; or

» certain disclosures of Directors’
remuneration specified by law are not
made; or

» | havenot received all of the information
and explanations | require for my audit;
ot

« acorporate governance statement
has not been prepared by the parent
company.

fof;%_f—:w

8 July 2020

Hilary Lower
Senior Statutory Auditor

For and on behalf of the
Comptroller and Auditor General
(Statutory Auditor)

National Audit Office
157-187 Buckingham Palace Road
Victoria, London SW1W 95P






Financial
statements

Consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income

as at 31 March 2020

31 March 31 March
2020 2019
Notes £000 £'000
Revenue e e e e _l e e ‘1_61?32,w “15—;3_5:
Cost of sales (25,558) (24,477}
Grossprofit 1 1mar
Operating costs 3 (142,820) {113,326}
Share of results of joint ventures g 6,463 5,596
Otherincome 599 1,128
Operatingprofit T 26,275
Finance income 5 83 12
Finance cost 5 (60) —
Financecosts—net T T T,
Profit before corporation tax 439 26,287
Corporation tax income/{expense} 5 890 (4,924)
-I;rofit for the period I HI,NBQ; - %HMAH;:;;;
Profit is attributable to:
Owners of the company 2,640 22,661
Non-controlling interest {1,311) {1,298)
e+ e o ¢ eomom s £ e et e N . _...._..1_1329 s

All the activities of the Group are classified as continuing.



Consolidated statement of financial position

as at 31 March 2020

Group 31 March 31 March
2020 2019
Notes £000 £'0C0
Non-current assets T h
Intangible assets i 43,801 66,474
Property plant and equipment 29,873 30,717
Right of use assets i1 5,205 —
Deferred tax asset e 401 —
Interests in joint ventures e 4083 2.870
T o o 83,363 100,061
Current assets
Inventories 12 2,133 1,996
Trade and other receivables 13 29,369 17,368
Current tax assct v 3,983 —
Cash and cash equivalents e 110,156 127,592
T T 145841 146,956
Totalassets ) ) o ~ 229,004 247,017
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables L5 (44,889) 40,702)
Lease liabilities repayable in less than one year 16 {2,411) —
Current tax liability 7 — 1,942)
Provisions a8 {170) (618)
Deferred revenue 14 (21,048} (19,004)
e S T T  Tese18) (62,266)
Netcurrent assets ) I XY T 84,690
Non-current assets plus net current assets R ‘ 160,386 184,751
Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities repayable after one year 6 (2,834} —
Provisions 18 — (6)
Deferred revenue 1g {4,859} 5,631)
Deferred tax liabitity 2¢ — (78)
Total liabilities T e e T e 31y (67,981)
Netassets T o 152603 179,036
Equity
Share capital H 34,000 34,000
Retained earnings 124,740 149,772
Capital and reserves attributable to owners of the Company 158,740 183,772
Non-controlling Interest (6,047) {4,736}
Total equity T 152,693 179,026

The Financial Statements were approved
by the Board of Directors and suthorised
farissue on 7 July 2020.

They were signed on its behalf by,

Steve Blair

Chief Executive Officer

7 July 2020

The notes on pages 80 to 106
are anintegral part of these
Financial Statements.
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Company statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2020

Company 31 March 31 March
2020 2018

Notes £000 £000

Nnn_cur,r.,er;tt.;ss.ms e me st et e e e o e 4 e et 4 e s e« 1 e e
Intangible assets s 43,801 66,474
Property plant and equipment Li 29,7534 30,602
Right of use assets i 5,202 —
Investments g 400 400
Interests in joint ventures z 4083 2.870
S o ' S T T Tezae0 T 100,346

Current assets

Inventories . 12 2,133 1,996
Trade and other receivables 13 29,867 19,840
Current tax asset 7 3,984 —
Cash and cash cquivalents i4 108,473 126,271
Totatassets S T Taarma2 T T T2asyas3

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 15 (44,755) {40,616}
Lease llabilities repayable in less than ane year 16 {2,408) —
Current tax liability 17 - {1,936)
Provisions 18 {170 (618)
Deferred revenue 1g {19,504) {17,966)
(66,837) (61,136)
Net current assets 77,625 86,971
Non-current assets plus net current assets 160,905 187,317
Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities repayable after one year B {2,834} -
Provisicns 1z - (6}
Deferred revenue 1 {4,859) {5,621)
Deferred tax liability plt {302) (84)
Total liabilities (74,832) (66,857)
Net assets 152,910 181,596
Equity
Share capital Zl 24,000 34,000
Retained earnings 118,519 147,596
Capital and reserves attributable to owners of the Company _ 152,910 181,596
As permitted by section 408(3) of * The notes on pages 8010 106 are
the Companies Act 2006, the income S anintegral part of these Financial

statement of the Company 1s not /‘ Statements.

presented in this Annuat Report.

Steve Blair

Chief Executive Officer

The Financial Statements were approved
by the Board of Directors and authorised

forissue on T July 2020. 7 July 2020

They were signed on its behalf by:



Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 March 2020

Group

Share Retained Total Nogn-
tAmountsin £'000) capital earnings controlling
Asatl Aprii 2018 34,000 178,862 212,862 {(3,438)
Adjustment on applwcat;on of IFRS 15 - {6,401) (8, 401) —
As atl Aprll 2018 restated 34,000 172,461 206 461 {3 438)
Profit for the year - 22,661 22,661 (1,298}
Dividends payable - {45,350 (45 350) -
As at 31 March 2019 34,000 149,772 183,772 (4, 736)
As at 1 April 2019 34,000 149772 183,772 [4,736)
Adjustmen{ o appélcatcon of IFRS 16 — (22} (22} -
Asatl Aprll 2019 rl‘.‘stated 34,000 149 ,750 183 750 (4,7386)
Proflt for the year — 2,640 2,640 {1 311)
Total comprehenswe income for the perlod — 2,640 2,640 (1 311)
Dividends payable — (27 650) (2? 650) —
As at31 March 2020 34,000 124,740 158,740 (6,04T)

i et ety o i

e B e BT P S E o W AV 1558 T © e SRS G % T S AR G 4in 4 ara AT ~rana L e s

‘Thenotes an pages 80 to 106 arc an integral part of these Financial Statements.

Total

209,424
s, 401)

203 023

21,363
(45 350)

179,036

179,036
22}

179,014

1,328

1,329

@, 650)

152,693
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Company statement of changes in equity

for the year ended 31 March 2020

Company

{Amountsin £'000)
As at 1 April 2018

Adjustment on application of IFRS 15

As at 1 April 2018 restated
Profit for the year
Dividends payable

As at 31 March 2019

As at 1 April 20192

Adjustment on application of IFRS 16

As at 1 April 2019 restated

Loss for the year

-

’.
i

.lP
'y
4

9

1

.
v .
Y
'.‘
re!

Total comprehensive income for the period

Dividends payable

[
V.
"'l.
“

\Y
[ ]
'

As at 31 March 2020

Share Retained
capital earnings
34.000 178,441

— {6,401)
34,000 172,040
— 20,306
— 145,350)
34,000 147,596
34,000 147,586
— (21)
34,000 147,575
— {1,015)
— (1,015)
— {27,650)
24,000 118,910

Total

212,441

{6,401)

206,040
20,906

{45,350)

181,596

181,596

{21)

181,575

{1,015}

(1,015)

(27,650}

152,910

The notes on pages 80 Lo 106 are an integral part of these Financial Statements,



Consolidated cash flow statement

for the year ended 31 March 2020

Group 31 March 31 March
2020 2018
Notes £°600 £000
Profitbefore corporationtax . am 26,287
Amortisation of intangible assets 39,409 20,730
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 4,973 2,239
increase in Deferred Tax Asset (323) —
Share of joint venture results {6,463} i5,596)
Interest received 183) (12)
Interest paid 60 -
increase in inventories (137; (253)
{increasel/decrease in trade and other receivahles {16,052} 8.453
Increasef(decrease] in trade and other payablcs 5,273 (2,278)
Decrease)/increase in provisions for liabilities and charges {455) 423
Increase/decrease) in deferred revenue 1,272 (2,438)
Cashfiow fromoperations a3 s
neomewmespaid T T ey  (39s0)
Netcashinflow from operating activities 25398 43,605
Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received 83 12
Purchase of property, plant and equipment {9,334) {2,538)
Purchase of intangible assets {16,736) {12,429)
Receipt of loan repayments from associates 68 25
Receipt of Dividends 5,250 6,525
g oo
Interest paid (60} -
Lease lizbilities and repayments H 5,245 -
Payment of Dividends (27,350} {18,000}
Net cash used in financing activities (22,165) (18,0-0-5”)
Net (decrease}/increase in cash and cash equivalents (17,436) 17,200
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 127,592 110,392
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 14 110,156 127,592

The notes on pages 80 to 106 are an integral part of these Financial Statements






Company cash flow statement
for the year ended 31 March 2020

Company 31 March 31 March
2020 2018
Notes £000 £00C
(Loss}/profit before corporation tax T T s
Amoartisation of intangible assets 39,409 20,730
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 4754 2.195
Increase in deferred tax asset 218 —
Impairment of loans to Group companies 4,651 4197
Share of joint venture results (6,463} (5,586)
Interest received {943) (587}
Interest paid ) 59 —
Increase in inventories {137) (252)
increasel/decrease intrade and other receivables (14,085) 8,182
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 7,594 12,451}
{Decreasej;increase in provisions for liabilities and charges {455) 423
Increase/(decrease) in deferred revenue 765 (2.749)
Cashflow fromoperations 77 ma1ss asem
Netcash inflow from operating activities 2864 45372
Cash flows from investing activities
interest received 843 587
Purchase of praperty, plant and equipment (9,148} (2,512)
Purchase of intangible assets (16,736} 112,429)
Loans to Group companies {4,651} (2,447)
Receipt of [oan repayments from associates ) 58 25
Receipt of Dividends 6,525
Netcashused in investing activities  o2sy
Interest paid (59} -
Lease liabilities and repayments i6 5,242 —
Payment of Dividends {27,350) {18,000)
Net cash used in financing activities (22,167) {18,000}
Netincrease in cash and cash equivalents (17,798) 17,721
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 126,271 108.550
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 4 108,473 126,271

The notes on pages 80 to 106 are an integrai part of these Financial Statements.



Notes to the consolidated financial statements

1. Principal accounting policies

Ordnance Survey Limited (the Carrpary]
sincorporated irthe United Kingdom
underthe Companies Act, The address of
the registered office s g'ven on page 6. The
princinal ectivities of tne Company and its
subsidiaries {the Group) and the nature of
the Group's operafions are set out in note
Scnpage 92 and in the Strategic report on
page 14, These financal statements are
presented in pounds sterling, because that
is the currency of the primary ecoromic
eqvironment inwhich the Group operates.

1.1 Basis of preparation

(i} Compliance with IFRS

The corsolidated financial statements

have been prepared in accordance with
Internationa! Financial Reporting Standargs
{IFRS) anc international Financial Reporting
Srandard Interpretation Committee

(iFRIC) interpretations as adopted by the
Europear Unicn and the Companies Act
2006 applicazle 1o companies reporting
under IFRS as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board 11ASE).

Where |FRS permits a choice of accounting
policy, the accounting policy which is
judged to be most appropriate to the
specific circemstances of Qrdnance
Survey Limited ('Oranance Survey') for the
purpose of giving a true and fair view has
been selected. The policies adopted are
described below. They have been applied
consistent!y unless otherwise stated in
dealing with iterns that are considered
material to the financial statements.

The Company has taken advantage of
the exemption under Section 408 of the
Companies Act 2006 from presenting its
own profit and joss account.

{ii) Going concern

The financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis.

{iii) Historical cost convention

The financial staternents have been
prepared under the historic cost convention
except for the following:

- financial assets and hiabilities -
measdred at farr value,

{iv) New and amended standards
adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following
standards and amendments for the first
time fortheir annual reporting period
commencing 1 April 2019

« IFRS 16 Leases’ The impact of the
transition is shown in note 26.

The standard replaces IAS 17 'Leases’, end
related interpretations. The new standard
provides a single lessee accounting model,
requiring lessees to recognise assets and
ilabilities for all leases unless the lease term
is 12 months or less or the underlying assect
has a low value, A key change arising from
IFRS 16 is that most operating leases will be
accounted for on the statement of financial
position for lessees.

The Group adopted IFRS 16 using the
cumulative catch-up transition method,
with the effect of adopting this standard on
1 Aprii 2019, the date of initial application.
Accordingly, the information presented for
the year ended 21 March 2019 has not been
restated. It remains as reported under I45
17 & related irterpretations. The Group has
recognised the cumulative effect of initially
applying IFRS16 as an adjustment to the
cpening balance of retained earnings at 1
April 2018, Note 26 summarizes the impact
cfiransitionto IFRS 16 on the Group’s
retained earnings as at 1 April 2019.

The Group's accounting policy under IFRS
16 s documented in policy in 1.15.

There are no standards that are not yet
effective and that would be expected to
have a material impacton the entity inthe
current or future reporting periods and on
foreseeable future transactions.

1.2 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements
incorporate the financial staternents of the
Company and its subsidiaries.

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the
Group has control, The Group controls
an entity when the Group is exposed to,

or has rights to, vanatle returns from its
involvement with the entity and Fas the
aniity (o affect those returrs througn its
power to drect the activities of the entity.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the
cate orwhich centrol s trarsferrad to the
Group. They are de-consolidated from the
date that controi ceases.

Wnere necessary, adjustments are made to
the financial statements of subsidiaries to

bring their accounting policies into line with
those used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transacticns, ba.ances,
income and expenditure are eliminated in
full onconsol dation.

Non-controlling interests in the net assets
of consclidated subsidizries are identified
separately from the Group's eguity. Total
comeprehensive income s attributed to
Non-controlling interests even if thisresulis
in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.

1.3 Joint ventures

Jointventures are entities over which the
Group has significant influence but does not
control.

The Group accounts for iInvestments in
joint ventures using the equity method
of accounting, recording the investment
initially at cost. Adjustment is made in
the Group accounts (o ensure consistent
application of Group accounting policies.

1.4 Segment reporting

The Board receives an analysis of revenue
by channel and operating segments and
this 15 presented in note 2.

1.5 Foreign currency transactions

Transactions denominated in foreign
currerncies are translated into the functional
currency at the exchange rate ruling at the
dates of the transactions. Exchange rate
differences are charged to the statement of
profit or loss as incurred. Monetary assets
and lizbilities denaminated in foreign
currencies at the statement of financial
position reporting date are translated at the
rates ruling at that date.



1.6 Investments

Irvestments held as non-current 3ssets are
stated at coustiess parment.

1.7 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and cqu pmoent held for use
inthe supply of goods or services, orfor
administration purposes, are stated in the
statemert of financia: positicn at costs less
any accumuiated depreciation.

The depreciable amount of an assetis
calculated by deducting its residual value
fromitsimitial cost. The rasidual value of

an asset is the estimaicd amount that the
Group would abtain from the disposal of the
asset sfter deducting the estimated cost of
disposal.

Depreciation s charged 5o as to write off
the costs of assets less theirresidual value
over their estimated useful lives, using the

straight-line method.

The depreciation pelicy applied to property,
plant and equipment details the following
usefullives to be applied to tangible fixed
assets:

Asset class Depreciation
policy
" Notdepreciated

40 S'ears from

Freeholdland

Freehold
buildings acquisition or
remaining useful

economic life

Equipment and

fixtures:

IT Equipment 1lto 5 years
Equipment, 2to 15 years
facilities and

fixtures

Vehicles 4 years

Assets under Not depreciated

construction

The minimum level for capitalisation

of praperty, plant and equipment is

75,000 with the exception of information
technology (IT) and support systems
hardware, which is £1,000. AHIT
workstations (office computers and laptops;
bought together are grouped as one asset,

1.8Intangible assets

Erpenditure onresearch activities is
recogrised as an expense inthe penad ie
which itis incurred. Intenally generated
ntangibie asscls are capitalised if an asset
has been created which can be idenufied
and meets the following critena:

« Itis probable thatthe asset will give rise
to future economic benefit,

+ Theoriginal cost can be reliabty
measured.

« ltistechricaliy feasible that the asset
can be completed for use.

«  Thereistheintention to completc and
useit.

+  Thereistheabilitytouse it

+  Resources are available to complete the
development.

These assets are capitalised at the cost of
development.

Amortisation is charged on a straight-line
basis in order to write down the asset over
its useful life, Useful lives are reviewed on
an annual basis and adjustments, where
applicable, are made on a prospective
basis. The usefui lives of intangible assets
are expected to fall within the fellowing
fimits:

Estimated
useful life

Asset class

3to 5 years

3tol2vyears

Data content

Software

Assets under Not amortised

construction

The Group’s internally generated intangible
assets consist of:

a) Data content

- Datacortent represents the core
geographic date sets from which the
business provides ‘ts praducts and

Services.

b} Software

«  Trnecosts of data delivery and business
systems include all directly attriputabic
costs including the cost of purchased
computer software licences used to
developthesystems,

¢} Assets in course of construction

+  Assetsin course of construction are
capitalised at cost and carried at cost
less any recogrised impairment loss.

Costincludes all directly attributable
costs including professionai fees and,

for qualifying assets, borrowing costs
capitalised in accordance with the Group's
accounting palicy.

Amortisation of these assets commences
when the assets are ready for theirintended
use.

1.9 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to amortisatior are
reviewed annualy to consider whether
there have been any events or changes in
circumstance thatindicate the carrying
amount may not be recoverable, An
imaairment loss is recagnised for the
amount by which the asset’s carrying
amount exceeds 1ts recoverable amount.

The recoverable amountis the higher of

an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and
value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped atthe
lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash flows (cash generating
unitst Non-financial assets which have
suffered impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at each
reporting date



1.10 Inventory and work in progress

Irventories and work in progress are stated
at the fower of cost and netrezl:sable value,
Costis determined using the weighted
average costing method.

Cost comprises design costs, direct
materials, direct labour and those
overheads that nave been incurred in
bringing the invertories to their present
location and congiticn.

Net realisanle value represents the
estimated selling price in the ordinary
course ¢f bus'ness less applicable variable
selting expenses.

1.11 Financial assets and liabilities

The Group has classifed its financial
instruments as follows:

a) Financial assets

+  Fixed depositsincluding funds held
with banks and trade receivabies
are classified as cash at bank and
receivables respectively

= Investments (other than joint ventures}
and short-term deposits are classified as
available for sale

Trade recevables are recognised initially
atfairvalue and subsequently measured

at amortised cast, less a provision for
impairment. A provision for impairment of
trade recevables is established when there
1S objective evidence that the debrwill net
be recoverable according to the original
terms of the receivables. The amount of the
impairment provision will be based on the
difference between the asset’s receivable
amount and the present vatue of future
estimeted cash flows.

Any impairment is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents include cash
at bank, cash in hand and any amounts
on short term deposit, typically less than
three months.

Assets classified as available for sale
finarcial asscrs are initialiy measured at
‘a‘rvalue plus gny transaction costs. Thoy
are subseguently measured at fair value.
Urrealised gains and losses erising from
changesin fair value are recognised In
the staterment of profit o loss and crher
comprehensive inceme.

b) Financial liabilities

- Traedecpayables and borrewings are
c.assified gs loans and receivables

Trade payables are recognised initially
ar fair value and subseguently measured
at amortised cost adjusted for farr value
movements

Loans are initiaily recognised at fair value on
the trade date and subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. These are included within
current liabilities, unless expected maturity
is more than 12 months after the statement
ctfimancial position reporting date.

1.12 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group
has a present obligation as a result of a
past event. |t 1s probable that the Group
will be required to settle that obhigation
and that areliable esumate can be made
of the obligation.

Provisions are measured at the best
estimate of the expenditure required to
settle the obligation at the statement of
{inancial position reporting date, 1aking
into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation and are
discounted to present value, where
material.

1.13 Employee benefits

a) Pensions — legacy schemes

Pension benefits are provided through the
Principal Civil Service Pension Scheme
(PCSPS); details arc outlined in note 4 of the
pension schemes of which the Company
staff are members.

From 1 Qctcber 2002, the Trading Fund staft
could have joined one of three statutory
based final salary defined benefit schemes
iCiass'c, Premium, ang Classic Plus:.

New entrants after 1 October 2002 chose
between mermpership of the premium
scheme and jeining a defined contribution
scheme vith a significant employer
contribution ‘partnership pension account;
These schemes were closed 1o new entrants
on 29 July 2007.

Al new employees who joned the Trading
Fund or: or after 30 July 2007 coule choose
between meribership of the Nuvos scheme
and a partnership pension account. The
defined benefit schermes were closed 1o
employees on 31 March 2015.

All employer pension contributions payable
are charged to the statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income tor
the financial year as incurred, on the basis
that the schemes are multi- employer and
the Company 1s unable ta identify its share
of the underlying assets and liabilities

b) Pensions — Horizon scheme

The 2015-16 year was the first year of
trade for Ordnance Survey Limited, On 1
April 2015, the entire functions, business,
subsidiaries, operations and assets of
the Ordnance Survey Trading Fund were
transferred tc Ordnance Survey Limited,
alimited company wholly owned by the
Secretary of State for Business, Energy
&Incustrial Strategy, and the company
commenced trading on this date.

From 1 April 2015, all new Company
employees were offered the opportunity
1o join the Horizon defined contribution
pension scheme. For this scheme the
amount charged to the prefitand loss
account in respect of pension costs

and other retirement benefitsis the
contributions payable in the year.
Cifferences between contributions
payable inthe yeoar and contributions
actually paid are shown as either accruals
or prepayments in the statement of
financial position.



c) Early release costs

A provision s recognised.in the financial
year forthefLl costof the persion
cortributiors of empoloyees who have been
icentified at the discretior of the Company
and agree 1o 1ake carly retiremertunder
restructuring arrangements tefore the
stetement of financial pcsition reportirg
date (excluding actuarially reduced
retirement and medical retirement, Lntil
tney reach normal pensionable age.

Tneful. cost of funding early leavers prior
to 31 March 2015 has been provided for ir:
ezrlier years. Funds are released from the
provision annually to fund payments for
pensions and related benefits to the retired
employees untii normal retiremenrt age.
Underthe different funding arrangements,
which applied between Octaber 1994 and
31 March 1997, 80% of the costs were met
centrally from the Civil Superannuation
Vote (CSY).

The requirement of 1AS 37 Provisions.
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets
hzs been adopted to stzte the early release
and pension commitment provision at a
discounted amount where the time value

of money is material. The provision for the
estimated payments has been discounted
by the HM Treasury discount rate of G 24%
inreal terms. The discount is unwound over
the anticipated duration of the provision.

1.14 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of
the consideration received or receivable
forthe delivery of mapping goods and
services, which comprises mapping data,
information, customer tatlored services
and copyright revenue, in the ordinary
course of business. Revenue is shown net
of VAT and discounts.

The Group recognises revenue once

the amount of revenue can be reliably
measured, itis probable that future
economic benefits will flow to the entity and
when specific other criteria are met for each
of the activities shown below.

0S OpenData revenue is recognised
over the iength of the agreement with
the customer, reflecting the obligation of
ongeing supply and to maintain accurate
data sets.

Public Sector Mapping Agreement
{PSMA) revenue ‘s recognised each vear at
the amount agreed with HM Government,
refiecting customer usage and the Group’s
obligation of ongaing supply anc to
provide updates.

Direct Licences — allow the customer to
use the Group data forinternal purpcses
only. The revenue deriving from these
licences is recognised over the length of
the iicence agreement (ustally 12 months)
asthis reflects the usage of the data by the
customer and the Group’s obligation of
ongoing supply and to provide updates.

Partner Licences - enabie the customer
to add value to the Group data and resel:
the product to third parties. The revenue
deriving from these licences is recognised
overthe length cf thelicence agreement
{usually 12 months; as this reflects the
usage of the data by the end customer and
the Group’s obligation of ongoing supply
and to provide updates. '

Paper maps - revenue from paper map
salesis recognised when the control of
ownership passes to the customer.

Services - revenue from services are
recognised at the poirt at which the
services are transferred to the customer
performed by the Group.

Rental - rental income is recognised on a

monthly basis and any revenues received in

advance or arrears are deferred or accrued
as appropriate.

Unpaid invoices for icence fees which
relate to pertods after the statement

of financial position reporting date are
included in the trade receivables balance.
The net invoiced value relating to revenue
1o berecognised inthe period after the
statement of financial position reporting
datcisrecordedin current and long-term
creditors as deferred income.

Revenue which is received in the financial
period relating to payments receved in
advance of performance under the contract
are contract liabilities and held as deferred
revenue on the stalement of financial
position. Contract assets are recognised
when the group has a conditional right to
consideration for completed performance
under the contract. Contract assets are held

as accrued revenue (within trade and
otherreceivables, on the statement of
financiat position

1.151{ eases

IFRS 16 was acopted as from 1 April 2029,
Altoperating lcase cortracts, with [imited
exceptions, were recegnised on the balance
sheet by recognising right-of-use assets
and corresponding iease liabilities atthe
transition date.

The Group nas applied the simpl-fied
transition approach for the adoption
Under this approach the Group has
recogniscc transitional adjustments in
retained earnings on the date of initial
application {1 April 2019) without restating
the comparative periad. The Group has
reviewed material contracts to identify
any embedded leases at the date of initial
application and included these as Right of
Use assets together with the associated
liability. Atinception of a contract, the
Group assesses whether a contractis, or
contains, a lease based on whether the
contract conveys the right to control the
use of anidentified asset fora period of
time in exchange for consideration. The
Group has applied the partfolio approach,
grouping leases with similar characteristics
and elected not to apply the recognition
requirements of IFRS16 to leases of less than
12 months duration. The Group recognizes
ar ght-of-use asset and a lease liability at
the lease commencement date. The right-
of-use assetis initially measured based on
theinitial amount of the lease liability. The
assets are depreciated to the earlier of the
end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset
ar the tegse term using the straight-line
method as this most closely reflects the
expected pattern of consumption of the
future economic beneflits. The lease term
includes periods covered by an option to
extend if the Company i1s reasonably certain
to exercise that option.

The lease liability is initially measured atthe
present value of the lease payments that
are not paid at the commencement date,
discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, the Company’s incremental
borrowing rate. Generally, the Company
usesitsincremental borrowing rate as the
discount rate



1.16 Taxation

Current taxation

The corporation tax cxoense or credit
for the period is the tax payabie on the
current period's taxable income based
on the applicable income laxrate for
each junisdiction adjusted by changes
i deferred tax assets and liabilities
attributable <o temporary differences
and to unused tax losses.

The current corporstion tax charge s
calculated on the basis of the tax laws
enacled or substanuvely enacted at

the end of thereporting period in the
countrics where the Group’s subsidiaries
and associates operate and generate
taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with
respect to situatiors in which applicable
laxreguationis subject lo interpretation.
The Group establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid Lo the tax authoritics,

Deferred taxation

Deferred corporation tax is provided

in full, using the liability method, on
temporary differences arising between
the tax bascs of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts in the
consolidated financial staternents,

However, deferred corparation taxis
not accounted forif it arises from initial
recognition of an asset or liability in

a transaction otherthan a business
combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred
carporation tax is determined using tax
rates (and taws) that have been enacted
orsu blstant\'a{ly enacted by the end of
the reporting period and are expected
to apply when the related deferred
corporation tax assetis realised or the
ceferred corporation tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised

onlyif itis probable that future taxable
amounts will be available to utilise those
temporary differences and losses.

1.17 Rounding of amounts

All amounts disclosed in the financial
statements and notes have been rounded
off to the nearest thousand pounds
unless otherwise stated.

1.18 Critical accounting estimates and
judgements

In applying tne Group’s accounting policics
set out above, managementis required to
make certain estimates and Juogements
concerning the future. These estimates
and judgements are regularly rev.ewed and
updated as necessary. The estimates and
judgemerts that have the most significant
effect on the amount included in these
firancial statements are as follows:

Development costs — The Group
capitaiises development costs when the
project meets certain criteria. Costs are anly
capialisedif they can be reliably measured
and the project has been approved by the
Investment Group within the Group. Prior to
this approval all project costs are expensed.

Revenue recagnition - The Group
recognises royalty revenue based on returns
from partners. Thesc returns are provided
on a timely basis, usualiy quarterly, thus
limiting the time-frarme of the estimate.
Seenote 2 for the breakdown of revenue by
channel, segment and geography.

impairment of assets - Property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets

arc considered forimpairment if there

is a reason to believe that impairment
may be necessary. Factors taken into
consideration inreaching such a decision
include the economic viability of the asset
itself and, where itis a component of a
‘arger economic unit, the viability of that
unit itself. Future cash flows expected to
be generated by the assets are projected,
taking into account market conditions and
the expected useful lives of the assets.
The present value of these cash flows,
determined using an appropriate discount
rate, is compared with the current net
assetvalue and, if lower, the assets are
impaired to current value.

Intangible asset lives - The determination
of asset lives for amortisation purposes

is reviewed on a regular basis. Assessing
the useful economic life of an asset s
based on management judgement taking
into account historical experience and

the impact of technological change.
Conseguently this represents a source of
estimatian uncertainty. See note 10 for the
breakdown of intangible assets ciassified
as software, data & content and assets
under construction







2. Revenue

Trading revenue
Other operating activities

Propertyrental income

Trading revenue
Channel

Direct licences
Partner licences
Paper maps

Services

Segment
Business to government
Business to business

Businessto consumer

Geography
United Kingdem
Other European countries

Rest of world

154,756
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2018-19

£7000

154,758

2,177

421

157,354

104,803
35,827
7,570

6,556

154,756

85,171
58,488
11,097

154,756

144,068
117

9,516

Revenues are attr1buted by country,

based oni the location of the entity 1o
whom the Group provide the precuct
or service. No details are availanle of
the location of the ultimate end user.

Daring the year one customer (Caoinet
Office) accourted for more than 15%s
of turnever. The revenue received
from this customer is secured under
separate long term agreements,

Revenue of £73.8m (2018-19£73 1m)
inrelation tg this customer is reported
inthe Direct cicences channel, the
Business to Government segmerz and
Unitec Kingdom geographic region in
the above takles.

The Group's operating reveriue is
principally generated by sales of
mapping data, information, customer
tailored services anc copynghts or
copyright material.



3. Operating costs

Tne Company's suditoris The
Nauanal Audit Oice. OHice ieasing
£000 payments of £346k werc maceto

201%-20 2018-18%

Note

£'000

Operating profit for the year has
been arrived at after charging: non aJdt services during the year
(2018-19 £346k). The subsidiaries’

the auditors for the provision of

Staff costs : 52,652 48,536 auditor is Deloitte, The fee payable
Amortisation of intangible assets < 39,333 20,730 to Deloitte for the currentyear
3udit is 146k (2018-19 £46k..
Depreciation of tangible fixed iy 4.973 5938 Payment to Deloitie for nen audit
assets services during the vear were £nil
Research and development 3,346 3,730 {2018-18 £6k).
Operating lease charges - buildings 33 1,022 Losses and special payments
Operating lease charges - PPE 631 1,975 There were no losses or special
payments to report.
Foreign exchange losses/(gains) (574) (383
Fees payable to auditor for audit of
78 75
the statutory annual accounts
Other operating charges 42,348 35,342

142,820 113,326
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4. Staff numbers and costs

Total employee costs

2019-20 2018-19%9
£'000 £040
Wages and salaries -
40,923 38,346
permanent employees
Social security costs 4,841 4,541
Pension costs 8,814 6,955
Additional early
. 261 277
release costsin year
Temporarysagenc
P Y138 Y 12,756 6.087
contract labour costs
67,595 56,206
Capitalised permanent labour {5,150} {4,168)
Capitalised temporary/agency
F g yrogenty {9,793) {3,444

contract labour

Total permanent staff numbers, including Birectors

The average monthly number of full time equivalent persons
during the year was as follows:

2019-20 2018-19
Operations  &ss 656
Sales and Marketing 177 167
Corporate Services 182 174

Total temporary/agency staff

The average monthly number of full time equivalent temporary/
agency/ contract persons employed by the Group during the
year was as follows:

2019-20 2018-19

Operations éO 23
Sales and Marketing 7 5
Corporate Services 8 7
75 36

Directors’ emoluments

2019-20 2018-19
£000 £'000
lari d other short-t
Salariesand o fe{s art-term 450 559
employee benefits
Pensi ibuti h
- ension con.trlbutaon c. arged 37 20
inyear —defined benefit
P ibuti h d
. ension con'trsbutqon C arge 2% 17
inyear - defined contribution
Highest paid Director 275 281
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At 31 March 2020 two Directors were members of a defineg
contribution scheme. The Principal Civil Service Pension
Scheme (PCSPS) is a multi-employer scheme. The asscciated
pension contributions have been presented in accordance with
accounting policy 1.13,

Employee benefits

145 19 Employee benefits’ states that a liability exists where
anemployee has provided services in exchange for employee
benefits to be paid in the future and an expense shoulid be
recognised when the entity consumes the economic benefit
arising from serwice provided by an employee in exchange for
employce benefits.

This results in the need to provide for holiday pay that has been
accrued, but has not yet been taken as at the yearend The
Group's holiday year runs from April to March and the payroll
records were reviewed to catculate the amount of holiday
accrued, but not yet taken. as at 31 March 2020.



Pension costs ~ defined benefit

For 2019-20, employers’ contributions of £7,692k {(2018-19:
£6,178k; were payable to the PCSPS at one of four rates in the
range 20.0% 10 24.5% of pensionable pay, based on salary bands.
The scheme actuary reviews employers’ contributions every four
years following a full scheme valuation. The contribution rates
are set 10 meet the costs of the benefits accrued during 2019-20
to be paid when the member retires and not the benefits paid
during this period to existing pensioners.

PCSPS s an unfunded multi-employer definec benefit scheme. A
full actuarial valuation was carried out at 31 March 2018, Details
can befound in the resource accounts of tne Cabinet Office: Civil
Superannuation pwwwcivilservicepensionscheme.arg k. No
information is available regarding the overall surplus or deficit of
the scheme.

The Group employees arc members of ane of the foHowng
The Classic ar Classic Plus schemes, the Premium scheme, the
Partnership Pension Account or Nuvos.

Career average pension arrangements were introduced on 1
Apnit 2015 and the majority of Classic, Premium, Classic Plus and
Nuvos members joined the new scheme. Further details of this
new scheme are available at wevecivilservicopensionscheme.
org.uk/members/the-new-pensicn-scheme-alpha.

The defined benefit schemes were closed ta new entrants on 31
March 2015,

Pension costs — defined contribution

All employeeswho joined after 1 April 2015 were given the option
to jein the Company Personal Pension Plan, Horizon — a defined
contribution scheme.

Early release costs provided for in financial year

The staterent of crofit ar loss and other comprehensive
Income inciuces a charge of 261k (2018-19 £277k} in respect of
new leavers identified in 2015-20. This charge reflects the costs
of leaversidentified and confirmed by 31 March 2020, excluz'ng
those igentified as part of the restructuring provisicn within
note 18.

Early release package
cost band (excluding

restructure provision) 2019-2¢ 2018-19
lessthan£l0000 - 1
£10,000-£25,000 - 3
£25 000-£50,000 1 2
£50,000-£100,000 0 2
=£100.000 1 —
Totalnumber of exitpackages 2 8
Totalcosteo00 261 277

Redundancy and other departure costs have heen paid

by the Group in accordance with the provisions of the Civil
Service Campensation Scheme, 2 statutory scheme under the
Superannuation Act 1972 Earty release costs are accounted
for as described in note 1.13. Where the Group has agreed early
retirements, the additional costs are met by the Group and not
by the Civil Service Pension Scheme.

5. Finance income/expense

Group 2015-20 2018-19

£'000 £000
Interestreceived 83 12
Interest paid {60) —
et i e e e e o 1t ,..,;_é._,,u_ S _1;
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6. Taxation

Ordnance Survey Limited is a fully taxable entity, The
subsidiaries and joint ventures of Ordnance Survey have
thraughout been subject to UK Corporation Tax.

{a) Corporation tax expense {b) Reconcitiation of income tax expense
2019-20 2018-15 2019-20 2018~19
£'000 £'060 £000 £000
Current tax Profit before income tax expense 439 26,287
Current tax on profits for the year (87 5,148 Tax on profit at the standard 83 4.994
) rate of 19% {2019: 19%) !
Adjustments in respect of prior years {(324) {231} e o ¢ e e
'Vl'otalrcurrent tax S , (411) , §,917 Reasons affecting charge
for the period:
Deferred tax Prior year adjustments (335} (226)
Origination a.nd reversal of 91 5 Impact of rate change 8 _
temporary differences
Impact of expenses not deductibte 10 (15)

Impact of rate change 8 —

Utilisation of tax losses not

Recognition of deferred tax assets (697} — ) . (346} {237
previously recognised

Adjustments in respect of prior years (11) 5 Recognition of deferred tax assets {697) —
Total deferred tax credit (479) 7 Current year loss not recognised 387 408
Corperation tax (incomej}/expense {890) 4,924 in::r;e tax (income)/expense (890} 4,924

Inthe Spring Budget 2020, the Government announced that from
1 April 2020 the corporation tax rate would remain at 19% {rather
than reducing to 17%, as pre\nou.sty enacted;. This new law was
substantively enacted on 17 March 2020 and closing deferred tax
balances have therefore been measured at 19%.



7. Dividends

2019-20 2018-159

£'00C
Dividends 27,650 45,350

A sy SR L ST § s ot e i 8 ok e (1) 4720 2 e s - g e il ek

£°00¢

InMarch 2020, the Company declared a dividend of £27.7m. The
2018-19reperted dividend of £45.4m 1s made ugp of the March 2019
declared dividend of £27 4m for 2018-19 and the Jure 2018 declared
d'vidend of £18.0m {or 2017-18.

8. Investments and loans

Company
2019-20 2018-19
£°000 £'600
Value of shares athegirning of period 400 400
Value of shares atend of period 400 400
Value of loans at beginning of period 3,288 5,083
Additions 4,651 4,187
Impairment {4,651} 4,197)
Loan Repayment {2,068) (1,775)
Value of loansatend of period 1,220 3,288
Valueofinvestments 1,620 3,688
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Ordnance Survey Limited owns 100% of the ordinary shares in
Ordnance Survey Leisure Limited (3,924,000 shares at £1 a share).

Ordnance Survey Limited owns 100% of the ordinary shares in
Ordnance Survey International Services Limited (one share at
£i ashare).

Ordnance Survey Limited owns 51% of the ordinary shares in
Astigan Limiled {312,245 shares at £1 a share) and 100% of the
preference shares in Astigan Limited {787,756 sharcs at £1 a share),

Ordnance Survey Internationat LLP does not have share capital.
Ordnance Survey appoints 100% of the Board members and has &
100% profit share in accordance with a members' 2greement

Due to uncertainties in future cash flows to Ordnance Survey
international Services Limited the loan is impaired. Due to decision
towind down the Astigan project the loan is impaired.




9. Subsidiaries and investments

Detai's of the Company's subsidiarics at 21 March 2020 are as fol.ows:

Propertion of

Country of controlfordinary

Name of subsidiary Principal activity incorporation shares held
OrdnanceSurveyLeisureLimited  Consumerweb . englandandwales  100%
Ordnance Survey Services Limited Dormant . England and Wales 100%
Ordnance Survey GB Limited Dormant England and Wales 100%
Astigan Limited Research England and Wales 51%
Ordnance Survey Partners Limited Non-trading holding company England and Wales 100%
Ordnance Survey international LLP © Dormant England and Wales 100%
Ordnance Survey international Services Limited international consultancy England and Wales 100%
Ordnance Survey International Services FZ-LLZ international consultancy | United Arab Emirates 100%
Ordnance Survey Geolntelligence Limited Dormant Engtand and Wales 100%
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Crdnance Survey Limited has provided an uniimited bank guarantee to secure all bank liabilities of Ordnance Survey International LLP and
Ordnance Survey International Services Limited

At the year end, the Group decided to end the project which is held within Astigan Limited. The investment is fully impaired.

Details of the Company’s joint ventures and associates at 31 March 2020 are as follows:

Proportion of

Name of joint ventures Country of control/ordinary
and associates Principal activity incorporation shares held
GeoPlacellP  Natonaladdressng  CnglandandWales  50%
PointX Limited Point of Interest database England and Wales 50%

Dennis Maps Limited Map printers V England and Wales 25%
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Joint ventures and associates

2019~-20 2018-19

£'000 £000
Share of profit/{lass) i o
GeoPlace LLP 6,347 5,661
PointX Limited 82 (66)
Dennis Maps Limited 34 1
k 6,463 5,596
Share of net assets
GeoPlace LLP 3,814 l 2,717
PointX Limited 107 25
Dennis Maps Limited 162 128

4,083 2,870
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Other investments - GeoPlace LLP

The investment in GeoP.ace LLP at 31 Marcr 2020 is as follows:

2019-20 2018-19

£'000 £'000
Currentassets
Cash and cash equivaients 3,930 1,645
Qther current assets 4,126 4,234
Totalcurrentassets 8,056 5879
Current liabilities
Other current liabilities {2,971} (2,257)
Totalcurrent liabilites  (2,971) (2,257
Net assets 5,085 3,622
Ordnancesurveyshare i

of net assets at 75%

L I L LT R SRt N R

2019-20 2018-19

£'000 £'000
Reverwe 1401 14570
Interest income 15 10
Operating costs . {6,890) {6,871)
Depreciation and amortisation (63) [160)
Operatingprofit 8463 7,549
Ordnance Surveyshare 5347 . 5;51

of profit at 75%

GeoPlace LLPis a jointventure limited liability partnership set
up in 2010-11 to develop and market a national addressing
product. GeoPlace LLP commenced trading on 1 April 2011 and
is not subject to UK Corporation Tax. GeoPlace LLP does not
have share capital. Grdnance Survey appoints 50% of the Board
Members of the LLP and has a 75% profit share in accordance
with a members’ agreement.

Divigends of £5.3m were received from GeoPlace LLP during the
vear (2016-19£6 4m).

The registered office of GeoPlace LLF is Explarer House, Adanac
Drive, Southampton, Hampshire, 016 0AS.

The principal place of business of GeoPlace LLP is 1567-197
Buckingham Palace Road, London, SW1W 9SP.



10. Intangible assets

Group
Data Assets under
Software content construction Total
£000 £'000 £000 £°000

Yesrended31march2o10 S
Opening net book value 32,925 33,718 8,132 74,775
Additions — — 12,429 12,425
Additions from assets under construction 6,638 6.958 {13,596) -
Reclassification - — — —
Amortisation {12,705} (8,025) - {20,730)
Impairment - — — -
Closing net book value " 858 32851 695 6647
At 31 March 2019
Cost or valuation 89.092 55,276 12,375 156,743
Accumulated amortisation (62,234! 122.625) (5,410} {90,269)
Netbookvalve 26,858 7 mes1 695 c6a7a
Year ended 31 March 2020
Opening net book value 26,858 32,651 6,965 66,474
Additions — — 16,736 16,736
Additions from assets under construction 2.803. 300 (3,103) —
Reclassification - - - -
Amortisation {12,933} (26,400) e {39,333)
Impairment — — (7&) {78)
Closingnetbookvalue ~ 1e72 &Sl 20,522 43,801
At 31 March 2020
Cost orvaluation 91.895 55,576 26,008 173,479
Accumulated amortisation (75,167} {49,025} {5,486) (129,678)
Net book value 16,728 6,551 20,522 43,801

individual material assets include the geospatial database management systemn. current year carrying value £10.0m (2018-19 £15.0m) and

the geospatial content improvement programme, current year carrying value £5.2m 2017-18 £29.9m). Both assets have one to two years

amortisation remaining to be charged.

The GCIP assets were subject to areview of its usefut economic life in year to reflect the formal operational requirements of the data, which

resulted in an additional £18.2m of amortisation recorded in the year.



Company

Data Assets under
Software content construction Total
£°000 £7000 £'000 £000
Vearended31March2019
Opening net book value 32,925 33,718 8,132 74,775
Additions - — 12,429 12,429
Additions from assets under construction 6,638 6,958 {13,596) —
Reclassification _ - _ .
Amortisation (12,705) {8,025) — {20,730)
Impairment — — — —
cosmgnetborkuatue | T s mes . ems asam
At 31 March 2019
Costorvaluation 89,055 55,276 8,122 152,453
Accumulated amortisation (62,197) (22,625} {1,157) (85,979)
Netbookvalue 26858 32,651 6965 66474
Year ended 31 March 2020
Qpening net book value 26,858 32,651 6,965 66,474
Additions — - 16,736 16,736
Additions from assets under construction 2.803 300 {3,103} —
Rectassification — — — -
Amortisation (12,933} {26,400) — {39,333)
Impairment — — (76} (78)
Closing net book value T iems esm 20522 a3so1
At 31 March 2020
Cost or valuation 91,858 55,576 21.755 169,189
Accumulated amortisation {75,130} 49,025) {1,233} {125,388
Net book value 16,728 6,551 20,522 43,801

individual material assets include the geospatial database management system, current year carrying value £10.0m (2018-19 £15.0m) and
the geospatial content improvement programme, current year carrying value £5.2m (2017-18 £28.9m.. Both assets have one to 1wo years

armortisation remaining to be charged.

The GCIP assets were subject to a review of its useful economic life in year to reflect the formal cperational requirements of the data, which

resulted in an additional £18.2m of amortisation recorded in the year.



H. Property, plant and equipment

Group
Equipment, Right
IT facilities and of use
Land Buildings  Equipment fixtures Total assets Total
£000 £7000 £70040 £000 £7000 £7000C £000
Year ended 31 March 2019
Opening net book value 6,300 20,650 2,020 1,458 30,428 - 30,428
Additions - - 2,474 54 2,538 — 2,538
Disposals — — — (48) (46) — {46)
Depreciation — {634} {1,049; {556} {2,239) — (2,239)
Depreciation eliminated on
) — - - 36 36 —_ 36
disposals
Closing net book value 6,300 20,016 3,445 956 30,717 — 30,717
At 31 March 2019
Cost orvaluation 5,300 22,544 9,403 2,847 41,094 — 41,094
Accumulated amortisation — {2,528} {5,958) {1,891} {10,377) - (10,377)
Net book value 6,200 20,016 3,445 956 30,717 - 30,717
Year ended 31 March 2020
Opening net book value
) . G,300 20,016 3,445 956 30,717 — 30,717
{as previously published)
Impact of IFRS 16 — — — — — 5,496 5,496
Opening net book value restated 6,300 20,016 3,445 956 30,717 5,496 36,213
Additions — — 1,253 129 1,392 2,445 3,838
Disposals — - — — — {551} {551}
Depreciation — (634} {1,325) 277) (2,236) (2,737) {4,973)
Depreciation eliminated on
. — — — — - 551 551
disposal -
Closing net book value 6,300 19,382 3,383 808 29,873 5,205 35,078
At 31 March 2020
Cost orvaluation 6,300 22,544 10,666 2,976 42,486 7,291 49,877
Accumulated amaortisation — (3,162) {7,283} (2,168) (12,613} {2,186} {14,799)
Net book value 6,300 19,382 3,383 808 29,8373 5,205 35,078

Right of use assets consist primarily of leased properties, vehicles for our field surveyors and planes used for senal data capture. The Group
received income of £173k fram sub-letting right of use assets during the year



Company

Equipment, Right
IT facilities and of use
Land Buildings Equipment fixtures Total assets Total

£000 V £000 £000 £000 £060 £'000 £000
Yearended31March2019 - e
Opemng netbook value 6,300 20,650 2,020 1,313 30,285 — 30,285
Additions — — 2.474 38 2,512 - 2,512
Disposals - - - - - - -
Depreciation — 634} {1,049 512} (2,195} - {2,195)
Depreciation eliminated on _ . B - _ _ _
Closing net book value 6,300 20,016 3,445 841 30,602 - 30,602
At 31 March 2013
Cost or valuation 6,300 22,544 9,403 2,646 40,893 — 40,893
Accumulated amortisation — (2,528} (5,958) {1,805) {10,291) — (10,291)
Netbookvalue 6300 20,016 3445 sl 3002 — 30602
Year ended 31 March 2020
Opening net book value
(5 previously published) 6,300 20,016 3,445 841 30,602 — 30,602
impact of IFRS 16 — — — — — 5,310 5,310
Opening netbookvaluerestated 6,300 20016 3445 sn 30602 530 38912
Additions — — 1,263 129 1,392 2,445 3,838
Disposals — — - - — {551} {551)
Depreciation — {634, {1,325) (241) {2,200) (2,554) (4,754)
SZEZC;TGO” eliminated on - B _ | . “ _ ) _ 651 ] }fs-l
Closing net book value 6,300 19,382 3,383 729 29,794 5,202 34,996
At 31 March 2020
Cost orvaluation 6,300 22,544 10,666 2,775 42,285 7,205 49,490
Accumulated amortisation — (3,162) (7,283) {2,046} {12,491) {2,003} (14,494)
Net book value 6,300 19,382 3,383 729 29,794 5,202 34,996

Right of use assets consist primarily of leased properties, vehicles for aur field surveyors and planes used for aenial data capture. The
Company received income of £173k from sub-letting right of use assets during the year.



12. Inventories

Company and Group 2019-20 2018-19

£000 £'000
Finishedgoods 2133 199
S 2,133 1,996

During the year, Grdnance Su-vey wrote off anc made allowance
for potentially unsaleable stock of £232k (2018-15: £78k;.

13. Trade and other receivables

Group 2015-20 2018-19
£7000 £7000
Trade receivables 10,686 3,128
Impairment allowance (690} {104}
9,996 3,024
Other receivables 290 364
Taxation and social security
. 5,299 125
receivable
Accrued income 5,443 6,134
Prepayments 8,341 7,721
29,369 17,368
Company 2019-20 2018-1%
' £'000 £'000
Trade receivables 10,382 2,818
Impairment allowance {686) {104}
9,696 2,714
Other receivables 276 345
Taxation and social security
. 5,212 N —
receivable
Accrued income 5,130 5,774
Prepayments 8,266 7,628
Loans owed by Group undertakings 950 2,950
Accrued income due from
. 337 429
Group undertakings
29,867 19,840

The total bad debts written off in year were £44k [2018-18: £1k).

The fairvalue of trade anc other receivables is rot matenially
cifferert to the book value above. Receivables less than three
months past due are not considered for impairment uniess
specific circumstances give rise to indication of impairment
as historical experience shows these amounts as recoverzhkle.
Receivables are reviewed on a regular basis tc assess the
recoverability of the debt and a provision is made against
them based on estimated recoverable amounts from the sales
of goods/services determined by reference to past default
experience. The value of receivables past dueis shownin
note 26.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an external
credit scoring system to assess the potential customer's credit
quality and defines credit limits by customer. Limits and scoring
attributed to customers are reviewed on a reguiar basis,

14. Cash and cash equivalents

Group 2019-20 2018-19
£'000 £'000
Balance held at Government
] . 96,721 112,902
Banking Service
Bal heldi ial
alance held in éommerua 13,435 14,690
banks and cash in hand
110,156 127,582
Company 2019-20 2018-19
£°000 £°000
Balance held at Government
) ) 96,656 112,787
Banking Service
Bal held i ial
alance held in ?ommema 11,817 13,484
hanks and cashin hand
108,473 126,271




15. Trade and other payables

Group 2019-20 2018-19

£'000 £000
Tradepoyadles 197 s8s
Taxation and social security payabie 2,177 788
Other payables 1,218 960
Accruals 11,968 11,018
Dividend payable 27,650 27,350
Company 2019-20 2018-19

£'000 £'000
Tradepayables 1813 467
Taxation and social security payable 2,178 770
Other payables 1,167 960
Accruals 11,493 10,695
Dividend payable 27,650 27,350
Inter-company payable 354 374
o aamss aoge

The trade payables balance for both Group and Company
inciudes long term payables of nil (2018-1G: nil).

The fairvalue of trade and other payables is not matenally
different to the book values above.

16. Lease liabilities

Maturity analysis - contractual, un-discounted cash flows,

Group 2019-20 2018-19
£'000 £000
lessthanoneyear 4] —
Oneto five years (2,834) -
Totalun-discounted
liabilities at 31 March 2020 (5,245) N
Current (2,411} -
Non-current (2,834) —
Company 2019-20 2018-19
£'000 £'000
Lessthanoneyear (2408 -
Oneto five years (2,834) —
Totalun-discounted
liabilities at 31 March 2020 (5.242) h
Current (2,408) —
Non-current (2,834) —
17. Current tax asset/liability
Group 2019-20 2018-19
£'600 £'000
CoporationTax 3983 (1,942
Company 2019-20 2018-19

£'000 £'000

Corporation Tax 3,989 (1,936}




18. Provisions for liabilities and charges

Company and Group
Restructuring
provision

£000

As et 1 Apnl 2019

Additional provision in year 164

Utilisation of provision

As at 31 March 2020

LB U AR A TS e L At AR TP S AR W T R Aunp Re o

Included in current Liahilities 170
neluded in non—current liabilities —
170

A" R T B 1 AR AR I W AN AT

The above amount is estimared as falling due as follows.

2020-21
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Provisions are un-discounted as current liabilities.

19. Deferred revenue

Group

2019-20

Current
liabi{ities
£000

170

170

2019-20

£000

£'000

164

(618}

170

D T e

2018-19

£°000

Non~—current
liabilities

£'000

2018-19

£'000

Current deferred revenue 21,048 18,004
Non-current deferred revenue 4 859 5,631
25,907 24,635

Company 2019-20 2018-192
£°000 £000

Current deferred revenue

Non-current deferred revenue

19,504

4,859

24,363




20. Deferred tax asset/liability

Group

At 1 April 2018

{Charged)/credited to the income statement

At 31 March 2019

{Charged)/credited to the income statement

At 31 March 2020

Errey

Company

At 1 April 2018

{Charged)/credited to the income statement

At 31 March 2019

(Charged)/credited tc the income statement

At 31 March 2020

s o sz

e, 5 s

Ordnance Survey Leisure Limited

Ordnance Survey Leisure Limited generated
a current year protit before tax of £1,823,000
12018-19 profit: £1,247,000). Ordnance
Servey Leisure Limited has estimated tax
losses of £3,670,000 (2018-19 £5.430,000)
available to carry forward agamnst future
profits of the same trade. A deferred rax
asset of £687,000 12018-19 £nil} has been
recognised in respect of these losses.

Losses Provi

£°600

et g 2 e B

Losses Provi

£'000

Astigan Limited

Dueto the group's holding in Astigan Limited, losses
beforetax of £2,550,000 (2018-19: £2,190,000) are
included within the group's profitfor the year. On this
loss no amounts are due in respect of Corporation
Tax. As an entity, Astigan | imited has estimated tax

sions

sions

£'G00

losses of £12,999,000 (2018-18 £10,602,000) available to

carry forward against future profits of the same trade.
No deterred tsx asset has been recognised due (o
uncertainty over the timing of taxable profits.

Fixed assets Total
£'000 £'0C0

(203) (71)

(77} 7

(280) (78)

{157} 479

(437) 401

Fixed assets Total
£000 £7000

{206% (77)

(77} {7

(286) (84}

{157} (218)

(443) (302)



21. Share capital

Group and Company £000
Balance as 5t 1 April 2018 34,000
Balance as at 31 March 2019 34,000
Balancc as at 1 Aprii 2019 34,000
Balance as at 21 March 2020 34,000

L A € TN S e R B Y R WL AT 7 s e LA S R AT o ML s &

The compary hasissued 34,000,002 ordinary shares of £1 eacn

o shares in Ordnance Survey Limited are held by or on behalf of
ts subsidiaries undertakings

22. Operating lease commitments

Group and Company 2019-20 2018-1%

£000 £7000

Minimum lease payments
under operating leases 180 2,897
asanexpensein the year

b o e, e

R S

The reduction in operating lease commitments is due to leases
being reclassitied as right of use assets under IFRS16.

Asat 3] March 2020, Ordnance Survey Limited has future
mirimurn lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases as set gut below:

Group and Company 2019-20 2018-13

£'000 £'0060
withinoneyea 12 4130
Between two and five years — 6,023
Ve

e

23. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

No significant contingent assets or I'abiities noted for current
year.

24. Capital commitments

A1 31 14arch 2020, the company had the following capital
commiTments

2019-20 2018-19
£'000 £'000

Contracts for future capital
expenditure not provided in the 20 -

financial statements
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25. Financial instruments

The Group's tinancial irstruments comprise cash deposits and other items such a3 trade receivables, receivables awing from joint ventures,

trace payables, provisions and loans. The main purpose of these financial instruments 1s 1o finance the Croup’s operations.

The main risks ansing from the Group's financial instruments are crediz and liquidity risks. The Group's policies for managing these risks
are set 1o achieve compliance with the regulatory framework. The Group follows Goverrment Accourting rules, negotiating contracts

with suppliers o contractars 'n sterling or maior international currencies sucn as the eurc. The Group's policy dunng the vear on routing
trasactional conversions berween cur-encies {for example, the collection of receivalmes and the settlement of payabies) remained that

these shouid be affected 2t the relevant spot exchangerate.

Credit risk

The Group s exposed to credst risk through its trade receivables
aver anumber of sectors Trne Credit Policy has a deemed tevel of
risk acceptence for commergial business and higher credit nisks
are subject to credit checking using external sources such as Dun
& Bradstreer® and Experian®.

Covid-19 has increased credit risk across the World. The Group
continues 1o ciosely monitar all crecit risk, with particular focus on
sectors impacied by Covid-19,

Generally, paymentterms are 20 days from date of invoice except
in the consumer sector, where payment terms of 6C or 90 days
prevail. The profile of debt not impaired is shown below:

2015-20 2018-19

£7000 £°000
Notyetdve  ssss 2,08
Past due 0-30 days 374 218
Past due 31-60 days 25 8z
Past due 61-90 days — —
Past 90 days 12 115

- B BIKLL ay EAR T TIE SR ¢ S St b e e s AR

In arriving 2t the impairment against trade receivables the
following have been taken into account:

+ Anindividual eccount-by-account assessment of debt based
an past credit history. ‘

»  Astatistical eapproach to determine the historical allowance
rate for each debt tranche, applying this to the debt tranche at
the end of the period.

+  Any prior knowledge of debtor insolvency or other credit risk.

+ Asaresult of the Covid-18 pandemic, the Group are closely
monitoring ail trade receivables from highrisk sectors and
have made impairment against trade receivables where
judged appropriate.

Interest rate risk

The Group finances its operations through equity ard retained
profits thus s not exposed to interest rate risk,

Liguidity risk
The Group has mantained short-term liquidity throughout the
vear by management of its cash deposits,

Foreign exchange risk

The Group's activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of
changes in foreign currencies. The sensitivity analysis below has
been determined based on the exposure to foreign exchange on
the financial instrument balances at the reporting date and the
stipulated change taking place at the heginning of the financial
year and held constant throughout the reporting period. An
increase of 5% of the US dollars versus sterling woulg result in a
reduction of the Group's profit by £12k (2018-19: £15k].

Fair value hierarchy

IFRS 7 requires that an analysis of financial instruments that are
measured subseguent toinitial recegnition at fair value, grouped
into levels one to three based on the degree to which the fair value
observable is given. The levels are gs follows:

Level Fairvalue measurements arethose derived from gquoted
ONe  nrices {unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets
and liabilities.

Level Fairvalue measurements are those derived frominputs

WO oherthan quoted prices included within Level cne that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that s,
as prices) or indirectly {that is, derived from prices).

Level Fairvaluec measurements are those derived from valuation

three ochniques that include inputs for the asset or liability that
arenot based on observable market data {unobservabie
nputs). The Group’s financial instruments, recognised at
fair value, all fall into the level three categerisation.

No assets are measured subsequent to initial recognition.

Interest rate risk profiie Group

The interest rate profile
of the Group’s financial
assets at 31 March 2020
are set out below. All

Financial
assets

balances are held in

2019-20 2018-19
Fixed Floating Total Fixed Floating Total
rate rate rate rate
£'000 £°000 £7000 £000 £000 £'000

sterling
Cash atbank

- 110,156 110,156 — 127,592 127,592




26. Changes in accounting policies

This note explains the impact of adoption of IFRS 16 ¢n the Groups financiai statements,

As at
Group 31 March PP&E
2019 Additions
£7000 £7000
Statement of financial position
{extract)
Praperty, ptant and equipment 30,717 5,496
Trade and other Payables < | year 40,702) -
Trade and other Payables > 1 year - —
Retamned Earningsimpact of < 496
adopting IFRS 16 as at 1 April 2019 B '
As at
Company 31 March PP&E
2018 Additions
£°000 £000
Statement of financial position
(extract)
Property, plant and eguipment 30,602 5,310
Trade and other Payables < 1 year 40,616) —
Trade and other Payables > 1 year - —
Retained Earnings impaci of
gsimpacto - 5,310

adopting IFRS 16 as at 1 April 2019

Liabilities 1 Aprit2019

{5,518) 122)

Liabilities 1 April2019

Atinception of a contract, the Group
assesses whether a contract is, or
contains, @ lease based on whether
the contractconveys the right ta
centrol the use of anidentified asset
for a perioc of time 1n exchange for
consideraticn. The Group recognizes

Lease As at

£7000 £000 ‘
e e aright-of-use asset and a leasc
nability atthe lease commencement
date The right-of-use assetis initally
B 36213 measured based o1 the intial
amount of the lease liability. The

(5,518! (46,220) assets are depreciatad to the eartier
of the end of the useful life of the
right-of-use asset or the lease term
using the stra:ght-lire method s this
maost closely reflects the expected
pattern of consumption of the future
ecanomic benefits. The lease term
includes pericds covered by an
Lease As at option to extend ifthe Company is
reasonably certain tc exercise that
£000 £7000 option. Priorto adopting IFRS 16 the
- C Group accounted for leases under
IAS 17, which classified leases as
finance leases if substantially all of the

risks and rewards ¢of ownership were

— 35,912
transferred to the graup, with alf other
(5,331} 145,947} leases being treated as operating
_ _ leases. The Group did not have any
seeee e finance leases under IAS I7. For
(5,331 (21) operating leases, the lease payments

was recognised as an expense in the
income statement over the lease term
on a straight-line basis

As per the standard the cumulative
impact of the change in the
accounting standard s shown
through reserves.

Impact on Financial Statements

Ontransition Lo IFRS16 the Group recognised an additional
£5,496,000 of right of use assets and £5,518,000 of lease liabilities,
recognising the difference in retained earnings. When measuring
lease liabilities the Grouo has discounted lease payments using
arate appropnale to the asset class. The weighted average rate
applied is 2.9%.

2019-20

£000

Operating lease commitment at 31 March 2019 10,153
Discounted using the rate abave (178)
Non-qualifying items (4,252)
Short life assets (205}
Lease liabilities recognised at 1 April 2019 5,518

Nor qualifying tems inciude rates, service charges and VAT,



27. Contract assets and contract liabilities

Group 2019-20 2018-19
£°000 £000
Revenue recognised in the period
from:
Amounts included in contractliability
L . 5,047 4,845
at the beginning of the period
Revenue received in the period from:
Performance obligations satisfied in
725 4,135

previous periods
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28. Related parties

Alltransactions with actual or potential related parties are carned
outatanarm’stength basis.

The Company is wholly owned by the Secretary of State far
Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy (BEIS] BEIS is a ministerial
department of HM Government

Inthe course of its normal business the Group provides mapping
data and licences to both the private and public sectors.

During the year the Group had a significant number of material
transactions with other government departments and central
government bodies. Most of these transactions have been with the
Cabinet Office on behalf of BM Government, HM Land Registry. the
Scottish Government and Geo Place |LLP,

No Board rmember, senior management or other related party has
undertaken any material transactions with Qrdnance Survey during
the year. Campensation paid to management in the ordinary course
of Group operations is given in the Remuneration Report.

Ordnance Survey Leisure Limited, is 100% owned by the
company. The Directors of Ordnance Survey Leisure Limited at the
31 March 2020 were Paul Bragg and Nicholas Giles.

The Group receives payments from customers based onthe
invoicing schedule, as established ir the cortracts, Contract
assetsrelate to the groups conditional right to consideration for
completed performance under the contract. Accounts receivable
are recognised when the right tc consigerat’ on becames
unconditional. Contract liapility relates to paymerts received in
advance of performance underthe contract. Contract liabilities zre
recognised as revenue we perform under the contract. No contract
assetwere impaired ‘n the financial year endec 31 March 2020,

Ordnance Survey International Services Limited, 15 100% owned
by the company. The Directors of Ordnance Survey International
Services Limited at the 31 March 2020 were Paul Bragg and James
Blackman.

Ordnance Survey International LLP is 2 joirt venture inwhich the
Company indirectly controls 100% of voting rights. At 31 March 202C,
the Company was represented on the Board of Ordnance Survey
International LLP by Paul Bragg and James Blackman.

Astigan Limited is 51% owned by Ordnance Survey. The Directors
of Astigan Limited at the 31 March 2020 representing the Company
were Stephen Lake and James Blackman.

GeoPlace LLP is a joint venture LLP with Local Government
Association. At 31 March 2020, The Company was represented on
the Board of GeoPlace by Paul Bragg and John Kimmance.

PointX Limited is a related party At the 31 tdarch 2020, Daniel
Dukes and Paul Bragg represented the Company as Directars of
PointX Limited.

Dennis Maps Limited is 2 related party. At the 31 March 2020,
Nicholas Giles, James Blackman and Haze! Hendley represented the
Company as Directors of Dennis Maps Limited,

The results of Ordnance Survey Leisure Limited, Grdnance Survey
International Services Limited, Ordnance Survey International LLP,
Astigan Limited, GeoFlace LLP, PointX Limited and Dennis Maps
Limited areincluded in the consolidated financial statements as
described in the accounting policies

29. Post balance sheet events

There are no events after the reporting period requiring
adjustment to, or disclosurein, the financial statements.

30. Control

Theimmed ate parent undertaking and ultimate controlling party
of the Company is the Secretary of State far Business, Energy &
Industrial Strategy on behalt of HM Government.

The annual report and accounts for the Secretary of State
for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy on behalf of HM
Government is available at

www.gov.uk/government/publications



